

# Adult Sexual Assault Law Enforcement Guidelines 2017

# The Commonwealth of Massachusetts Executive Office of Public Safety and Security

Charles D. Baker Governor

Karyn E. Polito Lieutenant Governor

> Daniel Bennett Secretary

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

*The following people contributed significantly to the revision of these Guidelines:* 

Detective Lieutenant Pi Downsbrough	Massachusetts State Police
Stephanie DeCandia	Boston Area Rape Crisis Center
Lindy Aldrich	Victim Rights Law Center
Lieutenant Brian Henault	UMASS/Amherst Police Department
Jeremy Kusmin	Plymouth County District Attorney's Office
Maura Landry	Municipal Police Training Committee
Detective Robert Wile	Amesbury Police Department
Brian Domoretsky	Executive Office of Public Safety & Security
Stephanie DeCandia Lindy Aldrich Lieutenant Brian Henault Jeremy Kusmin Maura Landry Detective Robert Wile	Boston Area Rape Crisis Center Victim Rights Law Center UMASS/Amherst Police Department Plymouth County District Attorney's Office Municipal Police Training Committee Amesbury Police Department

Special thanks for additional contributions from Lieutenant Governor Karyn E. Polito, Executive Director Tammy Mello, and Members of the Governor's Council to Address Sexual Assault and Domestic Violence:

Suzanne Dubus Kim Dawkins Stephanie Brown David Adams Joan Sham Alicia Rebello-Pradas Liam Lowney DA Joseph Early DA David Sullivan Diane Fasano Chief Mark Dubois Emily Rothman Debra Robbin Michelle Loranger Nancy Scannell Christina Bain Michelle Smith Karen Cavanaugh Vilma Uribe Duane DeFour Paulo Pinto Lysetta Hurge-Putnam	Pathways for Change Casa Myrna Vasquez Emerge DPH SANE Program Attorney General's Office MA Office of Victims Assistance Worcester District Attorney's Office Northwest District Attorney's Office Office of Probation Maynard Police Department Boston University School of Public Health Jane Doe Inc. Children's Advocacy Center MA Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children Babson College Ursaline Academy Womanshelter Companeras The Network La Red Massachusetts Institute of Technology MA Alliance of Portuguese Speakers Independence House Disabled Persons Protection Commission
-	•
Paulo Pinto	MA Alliance of Portuguese Speakers

Juan Vega	Housing and Economic Development
Katherine Lipper	Executive Office of Education
Secretary Daniel Bennett	Executive Office of Public Safety & Security

#### Additional technical assistance provided by:

The Executive Office of Public Safety & Security The Massachusetts State Police Crime Lab The Massachusetts District Attorneys Association

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

<u>SECTION ONE</u> – PURPOSE AND GUIDELINES OVERVIEW	
SECTION TWO – DEFINITIONS OF SEXUAL ASSAULT	9
Rape, MGL ch 265 sec 22	9
Indecent Assault and Battery +14 years of age, MGL ch 265 sec 13H	9
Additional Crimes Related to Sexual Assault:	9
Human Trafficking, MGL ch 265 sec 50	9
Rape of Child, MGL ch 265 sec 23	9
Rape of Child/Use of Force, ch 265 sec 22A	9
Aggravated Rape of Child, ch 265 sec 23A (By age difference)	9
Indecent Assault and Battery on a child, MGL ch 265 sec 13B	10
August 8, 2014: Domestic Violence Act - MGL 265 s 15D	10
Charges:	10
Strangulation or Suffocation, 1st or Subsequent Offense	10
Aggravated Strangulation or Suffocation	10
<u>SECTION THREE</u> – DYNAMICS OF SEXUAL ASSAULT	11
Neurobiology of trauma	12
Impact of trauma on memory and recollection	12
How do people respond to trauma?	12
<u>SECTION FOUR – VICTIMOLOGY</u>	13
Common Reactions to Trauma	13
Secondary Victims	15
SECTION FIVE – SEXUAL ASSAULT INVESTIGATIONS	16
Categorization of Investigations:	16
"Lack of consent" Cases	16
"Unknown Identity" Cases	16
Substance Facilitated Sexual Assault (Consent)	17
Reporting Challenges:	18
Gender Bias	18
Anonymous Reporting	19
Victim Recantation	19
Unfounded or baseless report:	20
False Reports	20
Immigration Implications:	20
Military Personnel	21
Jurisdictional Issues/Courtesy Reports	21
SECTION SIX – INVESTIGATION DOCUMENTATION	21
Methods of Documentation	22
Written Reports	22
Audio Recordings	23

	2017
Photographic Documentation	24
Video Recordings	24
Sketches/Diagrams	24
<u>SECTION SEVEN – INITIAL LAW ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE</u>	25
Dispatch	25
First Responding Law Enforcement Officer	26
Victim/Witness Safety	27
Minimal Facts Interview	28
Crime Scene Preservation	29
Identifying and Locating Witnesses and Suspects	29
Language/Communication Barriers	29
Documentation of Initial Response	29
Investigation Support Services	30 30
Additional Considerations of First Responding Officers	50
<u>SECTION EIGHT</u> – THE ROLE OF THE SEXUAL ASSAULT INVESTIGATOR	31
Victim Interview	31
Location of the Interview	32
Gender of Interviewer	32
Documenting the Victim Interview	32
Conducting the Interview	32
Safety, Legal and Other Considerations	34 34
Concluding the Interview Added Barriers to Reporting	34
	01
<u>SECTION NINE</u> – IDENTIFYING AND INTERVIEWING WITNESSES	35
Witness Interview- Overview	35
First Complaint Witness	35
Child Witness	37
<u>SECTION TEN</u> – SUSPECT INTERACTION	37
Decision to arrest or not arrest	37
Interviewing the Suspect:	38
Miranda Warnings	39
Six Hour Rule	40
Electronic Recordings of Interviews/Interrogations	40
Other Procedural Requirements	40
SECTION ELEVEN - CRIME SCENE MANAGEMENT AND EVIDENCE COLLECTION	V 41
Crime Scene Management	41
Considerations before Processing the Scene	42
Fundamentals of Processing a Crime Scene	42
Documentation of the Crime Scene	43
Types of Evidence – Considerations	43
Clothing/Material as Evidence	43
Condom Trace Evidence	44

	2017
Packaging	45
Chain of Custody	45
Massachusetts Sexual Assaults Evidence Collection Kits (MSAECK) and the Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE)	46
Interviewing Medical Personnel	47
Evidence Identification	48
Disposition of the Massachusetts Sexual Assault Evidence Collectic Kit	on 48
Suspect Evidence Collection	49
Chain of custody	51
Combined DNA Index System (CODIS)	51
SECTION TWELVE – ADDITIONAL INVESTIGATIVE TOOLS & RESOURCES	51
Electronic Evidence	51
Court Orders/ Grand Jury Subpoenas	53
Photo Arrays	53
Polygraph Examinations	54
Sex Offender Registry Board (SORB)	54
Outside Documentation	54
SECTION THIRTEEN – OTHER INVESTIGATIVE CONSIDERATIONS	55
High Profile Investigations	55
Media Relations and Interaction	55
Mandated Reporting	56
SECTION FOURTEEN – CROSSOVER OFFENSES	57
Human Trafficking	57
Domestic Violence	58
Strangulation and Sexual Assault	58
SECTION FIFTEEN – COURTROOM PREPARATION & TESTIMONY	60
<u>SECTION SIXTEEN</u> – VICTIM SUPPORT SERVICES	61
Massachusetts Rape Crisis Counselor	61
The Victim Witness Advocate (Office of the District Attorney)	62
Victims of Violent Crime Compensation	62
Massachusetts Forensic Sexual Assault Exam Expense Application:	63
Massachusetts Application for Crime Victim Compensation	64
Massachusetts Office for Victim Assistance	65
SECTION SEVENTEEN – SEXUAL ASSAULTS AT COLLEGES & UNIVERSITIES	65
Overview	65
Jurisdiction/Collaboration	66
Institutional Responsibilities	67
Potential Advantages of the College/University Environment	68
Campus "Culture": Considerations for the Investigator	69

<u>NOTES</u>

<u>APPENDICES</u>

71

SEE ATTACHMENT

# Guidelines for Law Enforcement Response to Adult Sexual Assault

# **SECTION ONE**

# PURPOSE AND GUIDELINES OVERVIEW

Although each investigation will undoubtedly present with different circumstances and challenges, the following guidelines are intended to serve as a guide for law enforcement professionals when investigating adult sexual assaults. A timely, pragmatic, and sensitive law enforcement response is paramount. It improves a community's confidence in the police, increases reporting levels, and strengthens investigations thereby facilitating more successful prosecutions. The goal is to establish a standard or best practice to which investigations are conducted thereby creating a thorough, trauma-informed response regardless of the investigative jurisdiction.

Continuing education is of equal importance for Law Enforcement professionals. These guidelines are not intended to replace the ongoing need for in-person or on-line training; however, these guidelines will serve as the expected response and foundation for all training curriculums.

The following three core principles should be embraced when investigating sexual assault cases and serves as the foundation for the guidelines:

- 1. Trauma informed responses;
- 2. Thorough and sound investigations; and
- 3. Interagency cooperation.

Crimes of sexual assault often occur in private and with no witnesses. Therefore, the details of the assault are usually a recounting of events from two differing perspectives; the perpetrator and the victim. Because of this dynamic, interviews should be obtained from all persons who may have secondary knowledge or circumstantial information about the assault. Sexual assaults should be investigated in a similar manner as other crimes against the person using common sense, sensitivity, and practicality.

For the purposes of these guidelines, an "Adult" is considered to be anyone 18 years of age, or older, except where otherwise defined by statute.

This revision of the guidelines shall take effect as of July 10, 2017.

# **SECTION TWO**

# **DEFINITIONS OF SEXUAL ASSAULT**

In Massachusetts, there are many types of sexual assault, but the most common are Rape and Indecent Assault and Battery.

#### Rape, MGL ch 265 sec 22

- 1. The penetration of a person's bodily orifice (vagina, anus, and mouth);
- 2. By any part of another's body or by an object;
- 3. Performed against the victim's will;
- 4. Without consent; and
- 5. With the threat of or actual use of force

#### Indecent Assault and Battery +14 years of age, MGL ch 265 sec 13H

- 1. The "indecent" touching (touching portion of body thought to be private such as breasts, buttocks and genitals) without legal justification or excuse
- 2. Of a person at least 14 years of age;
- 3. Without that person's consent

Indecent assault and battery on a person with an intellectual disability; assault and battery, MGL ch 265 sec 13F

#### Additional Crimes Related to Sexual Assault (Not an Exhaustive List)

Human Trafficking, MGL ch 265 sec 50

- 1. Whoever knowingly subjects or attempts to subject, recruit, entice, harbor, transport, provide or obtain by any means
- 2. Another person to engage in commercial sexual activity or
- 3. Benefits financially as a result of violating the above

#### Rape of Child, MGL ch 265 sec 23

- 1. Whoever has sexual intercourse or unnatural sexual intercourse;
- 2. With a child under the age of 16

Rape of Child/Use of Force, ch 265 sec 22A

- 1. Whoever has sexual intercourse or unnatural sexual intercourse;
- 2. With a child under the age of 16
- 3. And compels child to submit by force and against his will or compels child to submit by threat of bodily injury

#### Aggravated Rape of Child, ch 265 sec 23A (aggravated by age difference)

1. Whoever has sexual intercourse or unnatural sexual intercourse;

- 2. With a child under the age of 16
- 3. And there exists more than a 5 year age difference between the defendant and victim and the victim is under 12 years of age; or
- 4. There exists more than a 10 year age difference between the defendant and the victim where the victim is between the age of 12-16 years of age; or
- 5. At the time of the intercourse, the defendant was a mandated reporter

Indecent Assault and Battery on a child -14 years of age, MGL ch 265 sec 13B

- 1. The "indecent" touching (touching portion of body thought to be private such as breasts, buttocks and genitals) without legal justification or excuse
- 2. Of a person that has not reached 14 years of age;

#### August 8, 2014: An Act Relative to Domestic Violence - MGL 265 s 15D

<u>Strangulation</u>: is the intentional interference of the normal breathing or circulation of blood by applying substantial pressure on the throat or neck of another.

<u>Suffocation</u>: is the intentional interference of the normal breathing or circulation of blood by blocking the nose or mouth of another.

<u>Serious bodily injury</u>: is bodily injury that results in a permanent disfigurement, loss or impairment of a bodily function, limb or organ or creates a substantial risk of death.

#### Charges

Strangulation or Suffocation, 1st or Subsequent Offense (see definitions above);

Aggravated Strangulation or Suffocation

- 1. Whoever strangles or suffocates another person and by such strangulation or suffocation causes bodily injury
- 2. Strangles or suffocates another person, who is pregnant at the time of such strangulation or suffocation, knowing or having reason to know that the person is pregnant
- 3. is convicted of strangling or suffocating another person after having been previously convicted of the crime of strangling or suffocating another person under this section, or of a like offense in another state or the United States or a military, territorial or Indian tribal authority; or
- 4. strangles or suffocates another person, with knowledge that the individual has an outstanding temporary or permanent vacate, restraining or no contact order or judgment issued under sections 18 or 34B of chapter 208, section 32 of

chapter 209, sections 3, 4 or 5 of chapter 209A or sections 15 or 20 of chapter 209C, in effect against such person at the time the offense is committed.

# SECTION THREE

# DYNAMICS OF SEXUAL ASSAULT

Anyone can experience sexual violence<sup>i</sup> and it occurs in all social, cultural, economic, religious, professional and educational communities. Yet, rape is the most underreported crime in the US; 63% of sexual assaults are not reported to police.<sup>ii</sup> The majority of sexual violence is committed by offenders known to the victim.<sup>iii</sup> These offenders are often not just familiar to members of a victim's community but are often trusted and held in high regard such as an employer, landlord, teacher, coach, family friend, or even a spouse or significant other. As a result, following a sexual assault, a victim's physical, emotional, professional, educational, financial or housing stability and well-being may be jeopardized. Additionally, serious privacy concerns for a victim may arise.

When responding to reports of sexual assaults, investigators should be mindful of the numerous complex and unique factors that surround sexual assaults. These events and circumstances may influence a victim's decision to report the offense, as well as the timing of when it is safe to do so. A victim's past experience, current circumstances, and at times their legal status may contribute to potential barriers in reporting the offense. Also, the existence of ongoing emotional and environmental factors may impact a victim's ability to participate fully in an investigation, if at all.

The role of the investigator is critical. Their immediate response and recognition of the seriousness of the incident reported impacts a victim's sense of safety and confidence in involvement with the criminal justice system. Regardless of whether a report ultimately moves forward legally, the investigator's demeanor and genuinely sympathetic interaction with a victim can dramatically impact the long-term psychological well-being of the victim and their willingness to seek additional assistance and support.

Acknowledging the difficulty of reporting such a personally invasive crime and reassuring the victim that the complaint will be taken seriously can enhance a victim's ability to fully participate in the investigative process. A meaningful understanding of common sexual violence trauma reactions will provide law enforcement professionals with the necessary tools to effectively and appropriately respond to victims.

### Neurobiology of trauma

Investigators should develop a working understanding of how the brain is programmed to react during a traumatic event (physiological response). A traumatic event is an experience that causes physical, emotional, psychological distress or harm. It is often perceived and experienced as a threat to one's safety or to the stability of their world. A traumatic event may include: rape, sexual abuse, and sexual harassment.

Victims may describe how they instinctively reacted or didn't react, and are unable to fully explain why certain actions were or weren't taken. A response such as freezing or dissociating is a normal reaction by a brain experiencing intense fear that is interpreted as life threatening. The brain's fear circuitry dominates and the prefrontal cortex can be severely impaired, and all that's left may be reflexes and habits.<sup>iv</sup>

Investigators are encouraged to learn more about the neurobiology of trauma and can begin to do so by reviewing "The Impact of Trauma on Brain, Experience, Behavior and Memory" by Jim Hopper, Ph.D. 2016. http://www.jimhopper.com/pdf/Handout for Interviewers.pdf

# Impact of trauma on memory and recollection

While conducting interviews, investigators may observe that a victim's memory of the incident reported is fragmented, contains gaps of time, or is clearer in the second or third interview. These fragmented memories are normal in relation to traumatic events. The fear and trauma experienced during a sexual assault shape how memories are stored, and thus, impact how a victim may recall a memory of the incident.

Without an understanding of how traumatic memories are retained, investigators may question a victim's credibility and victims may feel shame or self-doubt because of their fragmented or incomplete memories. It is crucial that investigators are knowledgeable on the implications of trauma on memory and recall and utilize effective methods to address these implications when interviewing a victim.<sup>v</sup>

# How do people respond to trauma?

After experiencing a traumatic event, people may experience a range of reactions. There is no wrong way to feel after a traumatic experience like sexual violence. First responders can expect virtually any type of emotional reaction by the victim. The demonstrated behaviors by the victim may appear counter-intuitive but should not influence law enforcement's treatment of the victim or their believability. Responding professionals should not make assumptions about a victim's credibility simply because their reaction differs from another victim's reaction or from what one perceives as an "appropriate" response. All victims experience an emotional reaction to being assaulted. These reactions are all normal responses to abnormal events. Individual emotional responses will vary from person to person depending upon such factors as:

- Age;
- Coping skills;
- Previous exposure to crime or violence;
- The crime's significance to the victim;
- The extent of the availability and effectiveness of the victim's support system;
- Being a member of a vulnerable and/or marginalized community;
- Previous experience with traumatic events and loss; and
- Previous experience/exposure (good or bad) to the criminal justice system.

It is important to note that the severity of the crime, such as an Indecent Assault and Battery versus a rape, may or may not influence a victim's traumatic response or presenting affect. For example, if a victim has experienced prior sexual violence, the current incident may trigger pre-existing trauma symptoms, compounding the impact of the recent violation regardless of its legal "severity". Investigators should never solely rely on a victim's emotional response when determining the validity of a report.

# **SECTION FOUR**

# VICTIMOLOGY

# **Common Reactions to Trauma**

The following list, while not exhaustive, includes some of the more common responses to victimization and trauma:

- <u>Denial</u>: "I'm OK." "It wasn't anything, really." "I overreacted." This is also sometimes expressed as a desire to "put this behind me," "move on" or "get over this." Questioning of the assault, "I don't know if I was really sexually assaulted."vi
- <u>Shock</u>: Immobilized, stunned, disbelief, unable to remember what happened during the crime, unaware of events that occurred during the crime, or of others involved.
- <u>Overwhelmed/disorganized</u>: Unable to remember information or understand explanations, a need to have things repeated, being forgetful of appointments, losing papers, etc. This disruption in memory function can be indicative of trauma and may explain why a victim's story appears inconsistent at times.
- <u>Frightened</u>: This may be expressed verbally or through actions such as not reporting the crime, delayed reporting, refusing to testify, or not responding to calls and letters.

- <u>Fearful of seeing defendant and of retaliation</u>: Afraid the perpetrator will cause further harm to self or others, afraid to report or give name and address, being startled when seeing someone who resembles the perpetrator.
- <u>Feeling vulnerable</u>: Having trouble concentrating on their job or going about daily routines because of constant fear for safety. A sense of needing to constantly look over one's shoulder or hide changing their phone number or moving.
- <u>Guilt/Shame</u>: "I shouldn't have...," "If only...," "I should have known better," and "It must be my fault."
- <u>Why me?</u>: Although we all know crime exists, we are likely to believe it will be someone else who is victimized and that we can take care of and protect ourselves.
- <u>Embarrassment</u>: *"I was stupid to have...,"* or *"I should have fought harder"* Withholding information that is perceived to be embarrassing or humiliating or pertaining to something personal/private is common.
- <u>Sense of loss and subsequent grieving</u>: Loss of belongings, money, or property. Loss of physical mobility and dexterity due to injury, loss of sense of security and trust, loss of person to death, loss of relationships because of an inability to relate to others in the same way as before the crime. If the criminal justice system does not meet expectations, there is a loss of a sense of justice, loss of a belief in the fairness and "justness" of the world.
- <u>Altered perception of safety and control</u>: Difficulty trusting others, anxiety about safety of self and others -- *"if it happened once, it will happen again" or "it happened to me, it could happen to others I love."* A need for additional security in home, car, etc. Hyper-vigilance and extreme or minor, modifications in daily routine intended to assure safety.
- <u>Anger</u>: Anger directed towards the perpetrator, anger or frustration towards the "system" -- want immediate action, want wrong to be righted. Anger about the adaptations in lifestyle made because of the crime. Self-directed anger --*"Why did I do this?" "Why didn't I do that?" "Why am I reacting this way?" "I don't want to feel like this."* Anger is sometimes closely related to feelings of fear and vulnerability.
- <u>Conflict over dependence /independence</u>: Should I *"give in"* and alter my lifestyle and give up some of my independence and (thereby suffer another loss) so that I feel safer? Or should I refuse to let the crime and criminal *"get to me"* and continue to feel anxious and unsafe?
- <u>Protective of family and friends</u>: "I can't tell them everything that happened if they know everything, they will get too upset or they will never let me go anywhere alone" or "I can't tell them about my nightmares, they are already so worried about me."
- <u>Fear of victim blaming:</u> "Why did you walk home that way?" "Why were you

*carrying so much money?" "Why did you go out with him?"* Sometimes victims blame themselves or perceive that others blame them and become defensive or more sensitive to this.

• <u>Fear of Criminal Justice system</u>: Fear and/or perceptions about the police and courts based on media portrayals and stereotypes. Fear of harassment by defense attorney. Belief that *"nothing will be done anyway" or "the defendant will just get a slap on the hand."* 

In addition to the above, victims may experience sleeping and/or eating disturbances and somatic complaints such as headaches, stomach problems, nausea, insomnia, selfinjury, and/or suicidal tendencies. Behavioral changes may include withdrawal, isolation or, paradoxically, engaging in risk-taking behavior. There may be a change in a victim's use of alcohol or drugs as they seek some relief from the disruption and the pain they are experiencing. Relationships may change resulting in increased difficulty in maintaining social or intimate relationships. They may feel as though they are going "crazy" which is frightening on its own.

# **Secondary Victims**

"Secondary victims" may have similar reactions to the events as the primary victim. Examples include witnesses to the crime, friends and family of the victim, those who respond to the crime scene or assist the victim (including law enforcement), and others who feel connected in some way to the crime. This is particularly true if the crime occurs within their neighborhood, community, workplace, or school, or if the victim is someone well-known or prominent, or someone they identify with, for any reason.

Although concerned for the victim, the secondary victim's own emotional reaction may make it difficult for them to respond to the victim in ways they would expect of themselves. Specific challenges may include:

- Separating fear or anger towards the victim;
- Assuming that the victim will react in a certain way and then being judgmental if they do not; Becoming overly protective or accusatory towards the victim in an attempt to gain control over the situation;
- Preventing future victimization or explain away a past one; and
- Feeling helpless and unsure of what to do.

Friends and family of a victim may need support and an opportunity to talk about their experience, just as victims and witnesses do and can access free confidential services through rape crisis centers.

# SECTION FIVE

# SEXUAL ASSAULT INVESTIGATIONS

As previously stated, each case is markedly different and presents its own circumstances and challenges. Remember, as an investigator your resourcefulness and ability to identify, locate, and retrieve witness statements and evidence is only as limited as your imagination, so follow up every possible lead and suspicion. You never know what evidence you may recover unless you try.

#### **Categorization of Investigations**

Most sexual assault investigations can be classified into two categories: consent or identity cases. Of additional importance is whether the assault was facilitated by some type of intoxicating substance.

#### 1. "Lack of consent" Cases

In the majority of sexual assault cases, the victim knows the identity of the assailant. That prior contact with the offender can often become a major factor in the case and significantly impact the victim's mental health, their willingness to report, and how the system(s) respond. In such cases, investigating officers should take particular note of:

- Any physical or verbal resistance on the part of the victim;
- Any victim injury, no matter the location on the body (remember to keep in mind obligations under MGL c209A and 258 E);
- The victim's thoughts just prior to and during the assault with an emphasis regarding any fear that the victim may have had surrounding the assailant, environment, or situation;
- Nature of relationship between victim and perpetrator
- Alcohol or drug use by the victim; and
- If the victim was unconscious or incapacitated at the time of the assault.

### 2. "Unknown identity" cases

An identity case, where the victim does not know the identity of the assailant is less common and often is a stranger on stranger type of assault. In these cases, the primary challenge is identifying the perpetrator. Explicit details from the victim regarding the description, manner, and communications from the assailant are of particular importance. The assailant may have been previously arrested or may have committed similar crimes in the same fashion (Modus Operandi or MO in the past). Investigators should focus on obtaining as much information about the assailant as possible. Officers should:

- Obtain a detailed physical description of the offender including identifying marks such as tattoos, clothing, and any other distinctive characteristics (e.g. odors, tattoos, accents, teeth);
- Document the exact words used by assailant and assess the crime scene to determine if this particular assault is consistent with M.O. of a suspect previously arrested for a similar crime or an on-going series of assaults;
- Identify and collect any forensic evidence; and
- Utilize available DNA samples to identify suspects
- Vehicle description/ registration information

# 3. Substance Facilitated Sexual Assault (Consent)

Research indicates that non-stranger offenders often target intoxicated victims and that a high percentage of victims are intoxicated on alcohol when they are assaulted. These types of cases have a high prevalence on college campuses. The use of drugs/alcohol does not mitigate criminal culpability nor should the victim's sobriety be used as a reason to disbelieve the victim's report of the sexual assault. Additionally, a victim's alcohol/drug use should not be used to discredit and discourage the victim from reporting the assault. The priority is to conduct a thorough investigation of the sexual assault rather than focusing on any misdemeanor, substance abuse violations by the victim.

Although alcohol remains the primary means used to lower victim's inhibitions various drugs can also be mixed with the alcohol or other beverages without the intended victim's knowledge, ultimately resulting in their incapacitation. Often, the narcotic substances used to subdue the victim are odorless, colorless, and tasteless making it difficult for the victim to detect the presence of the drug when covertly slipped into a drink. Although the drugs may be fairly short acting, they can provide a skilled perpetrator with more than sufficient time to persuade an already intoxicated victim to leave a public area for a more private location. Once at a private location, the unsuspecting and incapacitated target can easily fall victim to a sexual assault.

In addition to the alcohol and/or narcotics impacting the victim's ability to consent to the sexual act, often the effects of the drugs can induce what is known as retrograde amnesia. This condition often makes it difficult for a victim to recall the assault specifics, how or when the victim was drugged, or even that an assault occurred at all.

These cases tend to be challenging to investigate and prosecute because of:

- The victim's apparent lack of physical resistance to the assault;
- Sometimes inconsistent statements by the victim;
- Memory blackouts or no concrete memory of the assault at all ;
- The victim is unaware of their movement/ walking etc; and

• Possible delays in reporting.

In cases involving drug-facilitated assaults, prompt testing is required to determine and document the presence of narcotics – since degradation of those substances occurs rapidly.

### **Reporting Challenges**

As with many crimes, the successful prosecution of a sexual assault is often predicated on the victim's willingness to report the crime to provide enough detailed information for the case to be fully investigated. This detailed information about the offense establishes the foundation and framework for the investigation.

One crucial obstacle to overcome is the ability to get detailed information while minimizing trauma to the victim. Often times, subjecting victims to duplicative detailed interviews may be necessary during the investigation. However, this must be balanced with the knowledge that multiple interviews may exacerbate victims' insecurities about being believed, potentially re-traumatize them, and may result in conflicting or inconsistent statements which could potentially undermine the victim's credibility in the ensuing prosecution. It is important that investigators are mindful of the dynamics of sexual violence as well as the systemic, cultural, and social barriers that may discourage a victim from reporting or continuing involvement with an investigation following a report.

Even with a relatively straightforward allegation of sexual assault, investigators may face some challenges including:

- Gender Bias;
- Anonymous reporting:
- Recanting;
- Unfounded reports
- False reports;
- Immigration status;
- Military personnel; or
- Jurisdictional Issues

#### **Gender Bias:**

Gender bias, both internally and externally, is a form of discrimination which may result in Law Enforcement agencies providing less protection to certain victims on the basis of gender, failing to respond to crime that disproportionally harm a particular gender, or offering less robust services due to gender stereotypes. In December, 2015, the Department of Justice produced new guidance to help Law Enforcement agencies better address gender bias in their response to sexual assault and domestic violence. They identified eight key principles to lessen gender bias by law enforcement and the agencies they represent.

#### EIGHT KEY PRINCIPLES:

- 1) Recognize and address biases, assumptions and stereotypes about victims.
- 2) Treat all victims with respect, and employ interviewing tactics that encourage a victim to participate and provide facts about the incident.
- 3) Investigate sexual assault or domestic violence complaints thoroughly and effectively.
- 4) Appropriately classify reports of sexual assault or domestic violence.
- 5) Refer victims to appropriate services.
- 6) Properly identify the assailant in domestic violence incidents.
- 7) Hold officers who commit sexual assault or domestic violence accountable.
- 8) Maintain, review and act upon data regarding sexual assault and domestic violence.

#### Anonymous Reporting:

The decision by a victim not to report a sexual assault, or to file an anonymous report with law enforcement, may occur for a variety of reasons.

Pursuant to MGL c112, § 12A<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>, regardless of the victim's decision to report the assault to law enforcement, when a victim seeks medical treatment, the hospital is required to report the assault to the law enforcement entity of the jurisdiction using a Provider Sexual Crime Report (PSCR) *without reference to the patient's name or address*.

#### Victim Recantation:

Recantations include a retraction or withdrawal of a reported sexual assault. They are routinely used by victims to disengage the criminal justice system response and are therefore not, by themselves, indicative of a false report. Victims may not realize the toll that a criminal investigation and trial will take on them mentally, emotionally, physically, and financially. As a result they may want their involvement in the process to end. Moreover, since most cases of sexual assault are committed by someone known to the victim, pressure from the offender or concern for the offender's well-being may also be a factor.

Even in situations where the decision is made not to pursue a criminal complaint, victim referrals for medical and emotional services should be made and/or recommended. In many instances, an officer with insight, awareness and sensitivity

can uncover the catalyst for the victim's recantation and assist the victim in deciding whether or not to go forward with the case.

As stated above, if the only indication that the victim may not have been truthful is that their story has been recanted, the investigator should not automatically conclude that the initial report was false. Recantation does not mean that the allegations made in the initial disclosure never occurred. There may be numerous reasons a victim recants their original statement.

# Unfounded or baseless report:

One in which a reported sexual assault does not meet the elements of the crime. It is critical to recognize that a report determined to be unfounded is not synonymous with a false allegation or report. This is often an error of law meaning that the reporter believed that they were the victim of a crime but, based on the elements of the statue, they were not.

# False Reports:

The prevalence of false reporting of sexual assault is between 2% and 10%. This statistic is comparable to other major crime reports. Investigators must always conduct a thorough, evidence based investigation. Only when sufficient evidence is established that a sexual assault did not happen should a report be determined to be false.

This is consistent with guidance provided by the FBI Uniform Crime Report (UCR) on methods for clearing cases. Specifically, the UCR Handbook<sup>3</sup> states that a case can only be unfounded if it is "determined through investigation to be false or baseless. In other words, no crime occurred".<sup>4</sup>

If a situation does arise where all parties involved; police, prosecutor, and victim witness advocate, agree that sufficient evidence exists to judge the report as unfounded or false, the reporting party should be informed of the outcome of the investigation in a manner consistent with department protocol.

# **Immigration Implications:**

A survivor of sexual assault who has unstable immigration status faces additional barriers to reporting. Perpetrators of sexual assault prey on a variety of vulnerabilities of a victim including unstable immigration status -- often by making threats to have the victim turned over to immigration authorities should the victim report the crime to law enforcement. Additionally, shame surrounding the victimization and/or fear of rejection by a cultural community coupled with realities in a victim's home country where reports of sexual assault or domestic

violence may not be taken seriously all exacerbate a victim's reluctance to report.

Victims who are undocumented overwhelmingly report the strong fear of deportation as a primary barrier to reporting crimes. Reassuring a victim that reporting to law enforcement will not trigger adverse immigration enforcement can alleviate this barrier. Officers should be aware of appropriate protocols for interviewing and assisting non-English-speaking victims. Undocumented victims of crimes may have relief available to them under immigration law.

# **Military Personnel:**

If, during the course of your investigation, it becomes apparent that the victim is a member of any branch of the military, it is recommended that you provide the victim with the contact information for the Department of Defense's Safe Helpline (1-877-995-5247 or https://www.safehelpline.org/ . If, during the course of your investigation, it becomes apparent that the subject is a member of any branch of the military, it is recommended that his or her Sexual Assault Response Coordinator or Judge Advocate General be informed. Sexual Assault is a punishable offense in the military and, in addition to being held accountable by the civilian law enforcement system, offenders may be subject to penalties enforced by the Department of Defense.

# **Jurisdictional Issues/Courtesy Reports**

As with any reported crime, one of the first facts an investigator must determine is if the reporting party is in the correct jurisdiction. If it becomes apparent to the investigator that the sexual assault occurred outside their jurisdiction, the receiving department should take the initial report (minimal facts interview) and assess the victim's safety. The officer should also offer the victim all the support services and referrals afforded to any victim that would be reporting an assault in their own respective jurisdiction. After taking the initial report, the investigating officer should notify and make a soft hand-off to the department of jurisdiction and help coordinate the transition to the other jurisdiction.

# **SECTION SIX**

# **INVESTIGATION DOCUMENTATION**

No one portion of any investigation can stand on its own. Investigations are dynamic, interactive, compilations of information and evidence. However, without proper documentation, your hard work will never take form and provide a concrete picture of what occurred. Your ability to communicate the facts, circumstances, and events of the investigation can be the difference between a successful or failed prosecution.

The importance of documenting your investigation cannot be overstated. The documentation produced will serve several purposes, as it will:

- Create a record of the facts and circumstances while they are fresh in victim/witnesses mind;
- Serve as a mechanism to refresh the police officer's and witnesses recollection of events;
- Potentially serve as the foundation for criminal complaints and legal action (e.g. search warrants); and
- Become adopted as testimonial evidence at trial should a witness become incapacitated or legally unavailable to testify at a future date.

#### **Methods of Documentation**

Although the written report is often the primary format used in most investigations, officers need to consider other forms of documenting the investigation, especially in cases where you may need to document crime scenes, evidence, and victim injuries.

#### Written Reports

Reports should be written to communicate the facts to the reader in a clear and concise manner. A detailed, chronological accounting of events is the most effective way to write a report and facilitates the reader's ability to follow what occurred and what investigative steps were taken.

The content documented in the witness statements should be as close to verbatim as possible, especially for the victim and suspect statements. This practice accomplishes two objectives. First, by documenting the actual words used, a pattern of behavior by the offender may be revealed or it may link an offender to multiple cases. Second, using the exact words rather than paraphrasing better communicates what the victim and/or offender was thinking or feeling at the time of the assault.

Also of significant importance is documenting a detailed and precise description of the victim's demeanor and state of mind. For example, if the victim is "visibly shaking and crying" then document it as such versus stating the victim was "upset." It may be months or years from the date of report to trial, and details are important. Do not rely on memory alone.

It is also important to document the environment in which an interview occurs. For example, document the number of officers present, the tone of the interview, how the officers were dressed, who was seated where, if breaks/ refreshments were afforded the suspect (e.g. drink, bathroom). By creating a separate and distinct report which communicates the tone and environment in which the suspect is interviewed, several potential bases for motions to suppress the defendant's statement can be avoided while simultaneously demonstrating a complete and comprehensive investigation.

You should always follow your departmental protocols; however, written reports should not contain any speculation, opinion, or include an officer's thought process. Reports should be free from spelling, punctuation and grammatical errors. All reports should be proof read prior to submission. Presentation is very important and can impact the perception of the officer's thoroughness, competency, and professionalism. Reports should not contain police jargon and slang should be kept to a minimum. This will assist readers who are non-law enforcement professionals to better understand the content of the report.

#### **Audio Recordings**

As a police officer, you should familiarize yourself with the expected practices and legal requirements for recording interviews by consulting your supervisor and/or the district attorney's office of jurisdiction.

The use of audio recordings should be limited to suspect interviews. Recording witnesses or victims should not be a standard practice – and only done after consultation with the district attorney's office.

The use of audio recordings allows the interviewer to keep an even flow to the interview without asking the suspect to repeat themselves or slow down. In addition, by recording the interview you ensure that all the information provided by the individual is captured. This protects officers against allegations of omitting details and conversely documents details which, at the time of the interview, may not have seemed important.

If a suspect refuses to have their statement recorded, the officer should record the refusal (if practical) and document it on a refusal form.

Once being recorded, the officer should:

- Identify themselves and the interviewee, state the date, time, and location the interview is being conducted. Inform the suspect of any applicable rights (such as Miranda).
- Document that the person knows that they are being recorded and agree to same.

When audio recording statements, there are a few important points to remember. If the individual physically demonstrates information, the interviewer needs to verbally

explain what is being demonstrated. For example, if a suspect demonstrates the length of the knife using their hands, be sure to put on record that "the suspect showed a distance of approximately six inches."

Additional considerations include making sure that you have good, working equipment, having enough privacy so that the recording will not be constantly interrupted, and ensuring you make a working copy of the original and secure the original into evidence.

### **Photographic Documentation**

Photographically documenting a crime scene, evidence, or injury is critical in criminal investigations, especially sexual assault cases. Photos bring the scene to life for jurors and the corroborative element can help alleviate the burden on the victim. In addition, photographing the scene and evidence prior to recovery demonstrates thoroughness by the police and helps eliminate challenges to the integrity of the investigation.

If you have access to a crime scene unit, it is recommended that it be utilized. This will ensure items are photographed according to scale and captured in a manner which provides context to the entire scene. In addition, if photographing injuries, there may be certain lighting and technology which capture different conditions better. Time aged photos may also be relevant.

When documenting evidence through photographs, be sure to take an overall photo, a mid-range photo, and a close up photo. This provides a contextual basis for the evidence being displayed. In addition, include a ruler or some mechanism of measure to provide a basis of size of the item being displayed.

If the victim needs to be photographed, be sure to explain to the victim why photographing them is important. Conduct yourself in a professional manner at all times affording the victim the utmost privacy and dignity.

# **Video Recordings**

Video recordings are much like photographic documentation but can be more effective at capturing the big picture. This is especially true when trying to capture such things as distances, location of objects, spatial relationships, and paths of entry or egress.

### **Sketches/Diagrams**

Sketching a scene is helpful when there is no access to photographic equipment or when documenting outside scenes. Using sketches and triangulation will assist in pinpointing the exact location of a recovery site at a later date.

# **SECTION SEVEN**

# **INITIAL LAW ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE**

Reports of sexual assaults can come from numerous sources and through multiple channels. Most reported sexual assault will be delayed reports; days to years. Regardless of the reporting mechanism or the time between the assault and the report, individuals taking the report should react calmly and with purpose.

Remember that you represent your police department and the law enforcement profession. The first interaction the reporting party has with the "system" will set the tone and potentially impact his or her willingness to participate in the remainder of the investigation. Responding professionals should be compassionate and nonjudgmental, encouraging the victim to participate in sharing facts about the incident. Each and every report should be taken seriously and must be thoroughly investigated until it reaches its natural conclusion.

If the reported case is determined to be an "active" scene and requires an immediate response, the initial considerations should include first and foremost:

- The safety of the victim and the public;
- The safety of the responding police and emergency personnel; and
- The preservation of the scene(s) and any physical evidence that may exist.

Again, most reports will be delayed disclosures but in either scenario (immediate or delayed) the following information applies:

### <u>Dispatch</u>

Communications personnel or the initial call taker plays a critical role in obtaining important information from the reporting party. The information obtained is pivotal in determining the initial police response and ensuring the appropriate personnel are dispatched. The dispatcher should respond in a calm and supportive manner while simultaneously obtaining, at minimum, the following information:

- Name, address, and telephone number of the reporting party;
- If reporting party is not the victim, obtain the name, address and phone number of the victim, his/her current location, and status (safe, injured, alone, etc);
- Identify caller's relationship to victim and the caller's basis of knowledge;
- Dispatch immediate medical assistance if needed;
- If it's determined to be an "active" scene, promptly dispatch patrol officers to the victim's location and to the crime scene (if different);
- If, in the dispatcher's assessment, the victim is in imminent danger,

advise the victim to move to a safe location (e.g. to the home of a neighbor or family friend, a police station, a church) as long as relocating can be accomplished with minimal risk;

- Determine if a weapon was used during assault. If yes, what type;
- Determine the suspect's current location and status (safety issues, aware of police involvement, etc);
- Obtain detailed information regarding the identity and/or description of the suspect (e.g. name, gender, physical description, clothing, vehicle description);
- If the assailant has fled the scene, broadcast as much identifying information as quickly as possible;
- Determine the relationship between suspect and victim (if any);
- Furnish the responding officers with any available information with special consideration given to:
  - o dangerousness of the offender;
  - o specifics about the incident;
  - past domestic violence events and/or assaultive behaviors (prior criminal history, other relevant sources); and
  - if in possession of a firearms license.
- If possible, remain on the line with the victim until patrol officers arrive on scene;
- If for some reason communications cannot be maintained, the victim should also be tactfully advised against bathing, douching, eating, drinking, changing clothes, or touching anything at the scene. The victim of the assault is now analogous with a crime scene;
- If the victim has changed clothes, advise them not to wash the clothes and to leave them as they are;
- **Do NOT** cancel a law enforcement response to a complaint of sexual assault, regardless of a request to cancel;
- If a request to cancel is made during the initial response, advise the responding officers of this request; and
- Record and preserve the victim's "excited utterances" and 911 tapes for evidentiary purposes.

### First Responding Law Enforcement Officer

What occurs during the initial stages of an investigation is critical to the success of the investigation and cannot be overstated. The first responding officer sets the tone of the investigation which can directly impact the victim (positively or negatively) and the likelihood of an arrest and conviction.

The initial officer needs to be thorough but prepared, in all likelihood, to pass off the investigation to a certified sexual assault officer. The initial responder's primary areas of responsibilities are:

- Victim/witness safety;
- Crime scene preservation;
- Minimal facts interview;
- Identifying and locating witnesses and suspects;
- Documentation of initial response and observations; and
- Support service notification.

The medical treatment and well-being of the victim should be the first priority. The lapse of time between the sexual assault and the report of the sexual assault will potentially impact the likelihood, type and quality of evidence recovery from the body of the victim and/or perpetrator. If the assault occurred within five days (120 hours) of the report, then an evidence collection kit should be conducted. In addition, depending on the facts of the assault, there may be additional evidence which can be obtained.

In keeping with a trauma-informed approach, be professional and empathetic when interacting with the victim. Remember that sexual assaults, whether by a stranger or a known assailant, are the most personal type of violation a victim can suffer. Be patient with the victim and aware that all victims exhibit or react differently so do not judge or dismiss the victim's credibility based on the external behaviors and emotions exhibited. Be cognizant that a victim may not be ready to speak with law enforcement about the incident. This is especially prevalent in cases where a 3rd party has reported the incident to the police (i.e. parent, friend). Good rapport built at this stage may impact the victim's willingness to report at a later time.

If the victim is alone, inquire if there are family, friends, or a rape crisis counselor/advocate they want contacted. If the victim's clothing needs to be seized as evidence, attempt to arrange for a fresh set of the victim's own clothes to be made available.

### Victim/Witness Safety

As part of the emergency response, officers shall:

- Request an ambulance for transport to a hospital if there is observable injury to the victim or if the victim is complaining of injury;
- Strongly encourage a sexual assault exam be conducted by a Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE) and advise the victim of their rights under MGL c 209A and 258 E if appropriate (see Domestic Violence Law Enforcement Guidelines 2017);

- Conduct medical exams, if possible, at an identified SANE site Show understanding, patience and respect for the victim's dignity and attempt to establish trust and rapport;
- Evaluate the scene for suspects, vehicles, or objects involved, as well as for possible threats;
- Initiate a search for the suspect when appropriate;
- Be cognizant of the victim's concerns for safety/threats and be reassuring and comforting;
- Communicate all vital information to the Patrol Supervisor and other responding officers, including any possible communication barriers or special circumstances; and
- Notify appropriate protective service agency (DCF, DPPC, Elder Affairs, DPH) if abuse is suspected.

# **Minimal Facts Interview**

Sexual assault investigations involving adult victims will typically include, at the minimum a preliminary interview and a subsequent, in-depth interview. The primary purpose of the preliminary interview is to establish whether a crime has occurred. The interviewing officer should conduct a minimal facts interview and obtain basic information similar to investigating any other offense (e.g. who, what, where, when, how).

During the initial interview with adult victims, the first responding officers should:

- Ensure victim's safety and provide appropriate referrals (e.g. rape crisis/medical services);
- Establish the elements of the crime(s);
- Identify any and all witnesses and suspect(s);
- Identify possible locations of evidence and crime scene(s);
- Identify additional interviews to be conducted; and
- Advise a supervisor of additional resources and/or personnel needed (e.g. crime scene services, crime lab, etc).

A victim of a sexual assault may bond with the responding officer. If the responding officer intends to request assistance from a sexual assault investigator (as directed by departmental protocol) the officer should explain their role as the first responding officer to the victim. It is important for the initial officer to further explain what the victim may expect from the responding investigative team and to assist with that transition.

# **Crime Scene Preservation**

First responding officers should assume the existence of multiple crime scenes. It is the responsibility of the responding officer to elicit information from the victim as to the location of the primary, secondary, and possible tertiary crime scenes. Once identified, this information should be communicated to a supervisor to ensure that any additional crime scenes are secured and steps are taken to prevent evidence from being lost, altered, destroyed, or contaminated.

Also of significant importance is identifying the first person ("first complainant") the victim told about the sexual assault. This person will eventually need to be contacted and interviewed by the officer in charge of the investigation.

### **Identifying and Locating Witnesses and Suspects**

Questioning the victim about the assault, the description of the suspect(s), and the details regarding the assault should be limited. First responding officers should only question the victim enough to obtain a complete description of the suspect, whether or not a weapon was used, vehicles used, direction of flight, and names, addresses and telephone numbers of other potential victims/ witnesses.

### Language/Communication Barriers

If the family does not speak English, avoid using children or other interested parties as interpreters unless there is an emergency. Officers can call **QWEST**, a multilingual communications network for use by police departments at **888-892-2850** for interpretive language services <u>24 hours a day</u>.

# **Documentation of Initial Response**

Proper documentation of the initial police response, the information communicated by witnesses, who processed the scene(s), and who seized evidence, are all critical to a successful prosecution.

During the initial documentation of witness statements, specifically the victim's statements, attempt to conduct a minimal facts interview but if the victim begins to provide details of the assault, it is strongly recommended that you capture the exact words used by the victim to describe the assault. Also, specify the sexual acts which occurred and with which body parts or objects. This is extremely important because it provides a roadmap for potential evidence and/or crime scenes and is critical in establishing what crimes were committed. It may also help provide insight into the dynamics of the assault itself.

When there is no opportunity to interview witnesses, contact information should be obtained so the witness can be contacted and interviewed at a later date. Consider audio recording the interview(s); however, audio recorded statements should be in accordance with your departmental policy and the District Attorney's Office of jurisdiction. Having witness write out their statement is strongly discouraged.

Be sure to consider and preserve all forms of evidence that you may not directly elicit from a statement such as 911 calls, public video surveillance systems, spontaneous utterances, etc.

### **Investigation Support Services**

Once the responding officer has assessed the victim's safety, preserved the scene(s), transmitted any relevant information for immediate broadcast, conducted a preliminary interview, established that a crime has been committed, identified other victim/witness or possible suspects, and identified the potential crime scenes, the responding officer must then ensure that the proper personnel are requested to process any potential crime scenes.

It is recommended that your own department's crime scene personnel or the State Police Crime Scene Services Section be contacted to assist in processing any potential crime scene.

# **Additional Considerations of First Responding Officers**

As the first responding officer, in making the decision to arrest, the level of exigency and the probable cause to arrest should be assessed. Whenever possible, all officers are encouraged to consult with a representative of the District Attorney's Office prior to making felony arrests. Additionally, the officer should:

- Ensure that mandated reporters adhere to required protocol and file reports of suspected abuse when applicable. See Mandated Reporting (p56).
- Remember your obligations surrounding domestic violence and be sure to advise a victim of their rights under MGL c209A.
- For sexual assault committed by a non-intimate partner (i.e. classmate, coworker, neighbor) advise the victim of their rights under MGL c 258E;
- If necessary activate the Emergency Judicial Response System (EJRS); and
- If called to an emergency room, first consult with hospital staff to determine the victim's status, how the report came in, and other relevant information. If the victim traveled to the hospital by ambulance, obtain the names of the ambulance and staff in case future interviews are needed.

# **SECTION EIGHT**

# THE ROLE OF THE SEXUAL ASSAULT INVESTIGATOR

Specific to sexual assault investigators, pursuant to MGL 41 s97B, officers conducting sexual assault investigations <u>SHALL</u> have completed a course of training as prescribed by the Municipal Police Training Committee. Whether you are the detective responding to the scene after an initial report of a sexual assault or you are assigned to investigate a sexual assault after a delayed disclosure, the following section is designed to provide direction and guidance during your investigation.

As the lead investigator, you will have primary control over the case and will be responsible for ensuring that a complete and comprehensive investigation is conducted. Upon being assigned the case, the lead investigator has initial considerations and responsibilities which include information as outlined in the previous section and to include but are not limited to:

- Speaking with the first responding officer(s) to obtain a baseline story and to determine what has been completed;
- If the victim has not yet received medical treatment, make appropriate arrangements as needed and assure appropriate support referrals have been made;
- Ensure steps have been taken to preserve any crime scenes and/or evidence;
- If there are unprocessed potential crime scenes, determine if a search warrant is needed prior to processing any crime scene;
- Coordinate the dispatch of support services such as crime scene services;
- Obtain the names and contact information of any possible witnesses;
- Ensure all interviews are conducted in a timely manner, including the suspect interview;
- Ensure proper documentation of the investigation is completed and that all reports are complete and free of judgment and opinion.

### **Victim Interview**

Police officers are often confronted with less than ideal circumstances and have to adapt to the conditions presented. In keeping with a trauma–informed approach, deliberate consideration and decisions about the practical aspects of the interview cannot be overstated. It is strongly discouraged that friends or family be present during the victim interview. The presence of an advocate should be determined on a case by case basis or as determined by the victim. Remember the hardest part of the interview will be building trust and rapport with your victim, however by developing both, you will make the person being interviewed more comfortable and the interview easier.

# Location of the Interview

Ideally the interview should be conducted in a comfortable room where there will be minimal interruptions or distractions. If the ideal is not possible, you should attempt, at a minimum, to ensure the victim's comfort. This can be accomplished by the simplest means, such as providing reassurance, even in the worst physical surroundings.

### **Gender of Interviewer**

Take your cues from the victim. If the victim requests to speak with an interviewer of a different gender, every effort should be made to accommodate them and provide the requested gender interviewer. Do not assume a police officer who is the same gender as the victim is automatically the best person to conduct the interview.

# **Documenting the Victim Interview**

There is no "best" method of documenting the victim interview; however, there are certain considerations which should guide your decision. Factors influencing your decision include:

- The District Attorney's Office of jurisdiction and your police department's policy;
- The victim's preference (i.e. the victim may be uncomfortable with the statement being recorded); and
- Physical/linguistic/cultural limitations of victim.

It is recommended that the statement be documented by either the officer actively asking questions or the second officer in the room. You are strongly discouraged from having the victim manually write out their own statement as it may lead to statements which are generally insufficiently detailed and/or incomplete. If the victim does chose to write out their own statement, the interviewing officer should review the statement with the victim to assure accuracy of detail and resolve any inconsistencies or unanswered questions.

# **Conducting the Interview**

The ideal number of police officers conducting the interview is two. One is less than preferable for a variety of reasons, the least of which is officer protection. More than two is strongly discouraged. Asking the victim to recount details of an assault is difficult enough but to ask them to do so in front of numerous people will only act as an inhibitor and detract from the interview.

The tone of the interview should be reassuring and poised. Be aware of your body language and how it can impact the comfort level of a victim (e.g. an exposed weapon may create discomfort for the victim).

Officers conducting the interview should take an inventory of any personal bias, nervousness, or barriers they may have which might inhibit their ability to conduct the interview. If a bias is recognized, discuss the issue or concerns with a supervisor for resolution.

When conducting an interview of a victim, the manner of questioning should be in an open-ended format as much as possible. The information sought should include questions regarding the following:

- Name, date, time of interview;
- Description offense (details);
  - When the offense occurred (establish time line-- details of dates, months or significant events);
  - Details of the sexual assault and acts (use quotations, victim's own words/language);
  - Physical description of offender including identifying body marks, freckles, tattoos, scars, birth marks;
  - Smells such as cigarettes, cologne, body odor, something else;
  - Did the victim describe the "feelings" they experienced during the sexual assault (pain, worry, sadness, scared, nothing or something else);
  - Manner used to complete the crime (hand, fingers, penis, mouth, object, something else);
  - Information about how the assault ended and what caused it to end;
  - Any conversation, communication, or statements by the perpetrator either before, after, or during the assault;
  - The degree of force, threat, coercion if any used to effect the assault; Weapons used (describe weapon, brought to scene or picked up there); Manner which weapon was used during the sexual assault;
  - What the victim and offender did after the assault
- Relationship between the victim and suspect if any (in detail; may explain a delay in disclosure);
- Identify any and all witnesses and suspect(s);
- Identify additional interviews to be conducted as the investigation develops; and
- Other relevant information that might assist in bolstering the victim's veracity.
- Be cognizant of the framework in which the questions are asked. The "why" types of questions, although sometimes important, may feel

judgmental to the victim. Either consider rephrasing the question or explain to the victim the need to ask the questions and why you are seeking that specific information.

### Safety, Legal and Other Considerations

During the interview process, be aware of safety considerations for the victim, any children, or potential secondary victims/witnesses.

In addition to safety considerations there are circumstances which may legally require law enforcement officers to act. These may include:

- Advising the victim of their rights pursuant to (MGL c 209A and MGL c 258E); and
- Mandatory referrals. See section on Mandated Reporting (p.56).

It is important to make the victim aware of the community based services, rape crisis centers, and court services which may be available to the victim.

### **Concluding the Interview**

Once the victim's safety is assured, the interview is concluded, and support services have been recommended and/or obtained, your final interaction with the victim is extremely important. Explain to the victim what they can expect next from the criminal justice system. Be honest about the court process, potential police action, and what the victim's needed participation may be in the future.

Explain to the victim that if, after the interview, they remember something, it is perfectly normal and okay. Provide the victim with a mechanism to contact you with future information or questions. You should also ensure that the victim has someone available for support. If you are knowledgeable enough, explain to the victim about the role of the victim/witness advocate and how they can assist the victim, as well as potential victim compensation resources available through the Attorney General's Office.

### Added Barriers to Reporting

Sexual assault is prevalent in all communities but is a crime that often goes unreported. In addition to the shame and stigma which prevents many victims from reporting, some victims face extraordinary barriers that officers should be aware of. Individual factors and circumstance such as age, gender, culture/ethnicity, disability, sexual orientation, immigration status, and prior criminal involvement are only some potential unique obstacles. Special sensitivity to victims who need to overcome added barriers when reporting sexual assaults will set a positive foundation for all subsequent law enforcement interactions.

# **SECTION NINE**

# **IDENTIFYING AND INTERVIEWING WITNESSES**

# Witness Interview- Overview

Upon arriving on scene, it is important to obtain the names and contact information of potential witnesses. Although this is a sexual assault case, you can rely on your training and experience from other types of investigations and apply it to sexual assault investigations. Take detailed, concise statements which capture basic information. If at all possible, the statement should be in either a written report or audio/video recorded. This decision should be guided by your own department's protocols or those of the District Attorney's Office of jurisdiction.

As with victim statements, it is recommended that the witness NOT be left to write out their own statement. If the witness does write out their own statement, the officer conducting the interview should review the statement with the witness to assure accuracy of detail, resolve any inconsistencies, or unanswered questions. Any witness statements should be signed and dated by the witness providing the statement.

In concluding your interview with the witness, explain to them that, if after the interview, they remember something that it is perfectly normal and okay. Provide the witness with a mechanism to contact you with future information or questions.

### **First Complaint Witness**

One unique element in dealing with witnesses in sexual assault cases is the ability to use the testimony of "first complaint" witnesses. In Commonwealth v. King, 445 Mass 217 (2005), the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court revamped and renamed "fresh complaint" to the doctrine of "first complaint." This decision has resulted in a profound change in the way sexual assaults are investigated. Under the new "first complaint" doctrine, a witness to a sexual assault victim's "first complaint" of the crime may testify about:

- The facts of the first complaint;
- The details of the crime; and
- The circumstances surrounding the disclosure of the first complaint.

First complaint testimony may only be used for a limited purpose to assist the jury in assessing and determining the victim's credibility about the alleged sexual assault. The testimony may not be used to prove the truth of the allegations.

Law enforcement officials, investigators, medical personnel, social workers, dispatchers and civilians may all qualify as "first complaint" witnesses if they are the first person the victim told about the assault.

An officer should not discount other witness statements which fail to meet the legal definition of a "first complaint" witness. Their information may be equally relevant and useful during the investigation and/or at trial in another capacity. There are a number of exceptions which may permit someone other than the "first complaint" witness to testify including:

- Original first complaint witness is unavailable;
- First person told is incompetent;
- First person told is too young to testify meaningfully;
- First encounter that the victim has with the first person does not amount to a complaint; and
- There is a complaint, but the listener has an obvious bias or motive to minimize or distort the victim's remarks.

When speaking with a first complaint witness, attempt to video and /or audio record the interview. Be sure to include the following:

- Name, date, time of interview;
- Circumstances under which the complainant first reported the sexual offense;
- Events/conversations that culminated into disclosure;
- Other potential witnesses or persons present during the offense (details);
- Description of where offense occurred (details);
- When the offense occurred (establish time line-- details of dates, months or significant events);
- Details of the sexual assault and acts (use quotations, if applicable);
- Describe the demeanor of the victim during their disclosure/recounting of the event (tone, emotions etc.);
- Did the victim describe the "feelings" they experienced during the sexual assault (pain, worry, sadness, scared, nothing or something else);
- Manner used to complete the crime (hand, fingers, genitals, mouth, object, something else);
- Information about how the assault ended and what caused it to end;
- What the victim and offender did afterwards and why;
- Any conversation or communication which occurred between the victim and the perpetrator either before, after or during the assault;

- Weapons used (describe weapon, brought to scene or picked up there);
- Manner which weapon was used during the sexual assault;
- The degree of force, threat, coercion if any used to effect the assault;
- Relationship between the victim and suspect if any (nature in detail; may explain a delay in disclosure);
- Circumstances in which the first complaint was made;
- Other relevant information that might assist in bolstering the victim's veracity; and
- Information on why the victim decided to tell the person, at that time and place.

Documenting the exact words spoken by the victim to the first complaint witness communicating the assault is critical. Remember, what may seem to be inconsequential information at the time of the interview may prove to be crucial information at a later time and help portray a full and complete picture. It is also recommended that when possible, videotape and /or audio tape the interview.

### **Child Witness**

Sexual assaults are very personal and can often involve other family members as direct or indirect witnesses. Do not dismiss or overlook the child witness when investigating sexual assaults. Not only can the child witness be an important source of information but there may be other safety and well-being needs that should be considered.

The preferred method of interviewing a child witness is at a Child Advocacy Center (CAC) by a forensic interviewer. However, if circumstances don't allow for that arrangement, the following protocols should be adhered to:

- Conduct a "minimal facts" interview to determine P/C or safety issues
- Avoid using a child as an interpreter unless it is an emergency and no alternative exists.
- Provide referrals for appropriate services; and
- Make all necessary filings and referrals pursuant to MGL c119, § 51A, to the Department of Children and Families (DCF).

## SECTION TEN

## SUSPECT INTERACTION

### Decision to arrest or not arrest

The safety of the victim or other potential victims should be paramount in any decision to arrest. Additionally, officers should take into consideration the risk of flight by the suspect and the safety of officer(s), as well as any mandatory obligations required under the domestic violence guidelines and MGL c209A.

As in other types of criminal investigations, uncorroborated statements by a victim can constitute probable cause that a crime occurred. The decision to arrest must be based on whether probable cause exists that the crime occurred, not on whether the victim wishes to seek complaints or wishes to testify at a future date.

If the above issues are not present or manageable, do not feel obligated to rush or make an immediate arrest just because you have probable cause to do so. Look at the specific circumstances of the case and consider conducting a non-custodial interview of the suspect prior to any warrant or arrest.

#### **Interviewing the Suspect:**

ALWAYS attempt to interview a suspect even if you believe the suspect will not speak with you or will deny the allegations. Small corroborations of surrounding events can make a big difference.

When conducting any suspect interview, it is strongly recommended that two officers are present and that the interview is conducted in a setting where they will not be disturbed. The best practice and preferred method is to audio and/or video record the interview.

The goal of the interview should be to get at least a baseline statement from the suspect. Officers should let the suspect relate their entire statement before shifting to an interrogation style, if the shift occurs at all.

Prior to starting an interview, the first question the investigators should ask themselves is which, if any, legal requirements are mandated. This will help to ensure that statements made by the defendant are admissible in future legal proceedings. The most common legal requirements at this stage are correlated to whether there is a "custodial interrogation." There are many circumstances which may not initially appear to be custodial but, in fact, meet the legal definition and requirements of a "custodial interrogation."

In general, the following are examples of places/circumstances which may qualify as custodial:

- Police station;
- Jail/Prison; and
- Suspect's home if the suspect is under arrest, or if police are there to execute a search warrant.

It is important that the suspect's statement about the sexual assault and the circumstances surrounding the entire occurrence and relationship be obtained and documented carefully. Very often the criminal prosecution of a sexual assault hinges on the victim's word against the suspect's word. The tipping point in successful prosecutions can often be the corroboration of the more benign details of the victim's statement which brings credibility and credence to their entire statement. Small corroborations often end in big results.

Each of the following legal requirements requires their own separate and distinct waiver. You are encouraged to consult with your District Attorney's Office of jurisdictions with any questions:

## Miranda Warnings

It is vital that law enforcement know how to determine when Miranda warnings are required. The consequences of failure to advise a suspect of these warnings can result in the suppression of any statements made by the suspect. See Miranda v. Arizona, 384 436 (1966).

There are two controlling factors as to whether Miranda warnings must be given. If one or the other is absent then Miranda is not legally required. They are as follows:

- The person is in formal "custody," or deprived of freedom of action in any significant way; or
- The police, or an agent of the police, are communicating with the suspect whether through direct questioning or its functional equivalent, to elicit testimonial evidence or information.

If the suspect invokes his right to remain silent and/or requests the presence of counsel at any time, the request must be honored and all questioning must immediately cease.

### Six Hour Rule

Under Commonwealth v. Rosario, 422 Mass 48 (1996), an otherwise admissible statement is not to be excluded as evidence on the ground of unreasonable delay in the defendant's arraignment, if the statement is made within six hours of the arrest (day or night), or if, at any time, the defendant makes an informed and voluntary written or recorded waiver of his right to be arraigned without unreasonable delay.

### **Electronic Recordings of Interviews/Interrogations**

In Commonwealth v. DiGiambattista, 422 Mass 423 (2004), the Supreme Judicial Court held that a statement or confession obtained by police during a custodial interrogation at a place of detention, whenever practical, should be electronically recorded. Failure to do so will not result in the suppression of the statement; however, it will most likely result in a strong jury instruction advising jurors to view the statement with "great care." See Audio Recordings. (p.23)

Regardless of the suspect's decision to be recorded or not, a waiver to record or not record should be provided to the suspect and his/her decision documented. This advisement and waiver is separate and distinct from the Miranda and Six-hour rule waivers.

In general, it is good practice to:

- Tape as early as possible, including any Miranda consent/refusal;
- Try to record unobtrusively;
- Record the complete interrogation; and
- Preserve the tape.

It is advisable to avoid starting and stopping the interview tape. If it is not feasible to leave the recording running, officers should make a record on the recording that explains interruptions, and, if possible, have the suspect confirm the nature of the interruption on the recording.

#### **Other Procedural Requirements**

As with any arrest, all individuals taken into custody should be afforded all rights according to standard booking procedures.

# **SECTION ELEVEN**

## **CRIME SCENE MANAGEMENT AND EVIDENCE COLLECTION**

In many violent crimes, obtaining statements from the victim and witnesses is a critical first step in learning what occurred. An equally critical link that can provide irrefutable and corroborative evidence as to what occurred is the physical evidence obtained from the crime scenes.

When the identity of the assailant is unknown to the victim, the physical evidence becomes even more critical because it may provide investigators with both the identity of the offender and support the allegation that a sexual assault occurred.

Additionally, whether or not the victim knew the assailant, prosecutors often look to the forensic evidence to bolster their case by using it to not only help convince the jury that the victim did not give consent, but also to refute the defendant's version of events. Small corroborations often equal victim credibility.

Given the critical role physical evidence can play in any criminal investigation, especially sexual assault investigations, proper documentation, collection and preservation of physical evidence is essential. Police Departments are strongly encouraged to use a crime scene services unit or law enforcement officers who are specifically trained in evidence documentation and collection.

Two of the most critical steps in any criminal investigation are the management of the crime scene and the collection and preservation of physical evidence. To identify a starting point, investigators must rely on their own observations in conjunction with victim and witness statements. These sources serve as a road map to navigating the crime scene(s).

### **Crime Scene Management**

In reported sexual assaults, investigators must immediately consider the existence of, at a minimum, three crime scenes:

- The victim;
- The locations where the assault occurred; and
- The offender.

In addition, investigators must consider other possible locations where other types of evidence or "transfer evidence," may be found. This often results in additional locations being processed as crime scenes. Documentation of evidence and the crime scene can take on many forms but of critical importance is the written report describing the condition of the scene upon discovery. It should be noted if any items were moved or altered and by whom. For example, Emergency Medical Technicians may need to make an immediate entrance to render medical aid which results in the disturbance of the scene and evidence. Documenting the reason for the contamination and by who will help preserve the integrity of the remaining scene and any additional evidence that is located.

Once the crime scene(s) have been identified, they must be secured. This is an obvious but critical step. Not only does it preserve the integrity of the evidence, but it allows time for appropriate personnel to arrive on scene for processing. This is also the appropriate juncture for the Crime Scene Log to be started.

Crime scenes should be photographed and potentially diagramed as found and at the time of discovery, especially if there is risk of destruction or disturbance. Pictures bring an image and corroborative element to the case which can never be as effectively communicated by words alone.

Although many of the reported sexual assaults are delayed disclosures, investigators should never discount the possibility of recovering physical evidence. Sexual assault evidence, by its nature, has a higher likelihood of remaining intact for extended periods of time (e.g. fluids, DNA, etc).

### **Considerations before Processing the Scene**

There are a number of things to consider before processing a crime scene. These include:

- Is a search warrant/consent needed? If yes, be aware of the necessary language required to obtain appropriate forensic evidence.
- Is there an external exigency such as weather or rapid deterioration which requires immediate documentation/collection?
- Notification of crime scene and lab services.

Additionally, while processing the scene, protective gear should be worn to preserve the integrity of the evidence (e.g. booties, gloves). A single officer should be assigned to identify and record anyone who enters an active scene in a crime scene log.

### Fundamentals of Processing a Crime Scene

The manner in which evidence is collected, transferred and stored is critical to how well the forensic scientist can utilize the evidence to help reconstruct the crime:

### **Documentation of the Crime Scene**

The most effective method of documenting the crime scene as discovered is through photographs and video. An overall depiction of the scene should be documented prior to any evidence being tagged or removed. When photographing evidence be sure to include established points of reference, and some mechanism of measure, to give context to the observer of the photograph at a future date. Another method of providing context is to diagram evidence in accordance with fixed points of reference so the location can be recreated if necessary.

### **Types of Evidence – Considerations**

As stated earlier, the decision to seize items as evidence should be guided by the investigation, investigator's observations, legal authority and the victim/witness statements.

Because of the nuances and individualized facts of each case, it is impossible to provide a complete list of all possible evidentiary items. Though physical evidence, especially from sexual assault crime scenes can take many forms, the following list is provided to elicit thinking and expand the scope of items investigators might consider during the course of their investigations:

- Bedding/bath;
- Clothing/Material;
- Swabbings/fluids (vaginal, rectal, oral, digital, penile, etc.);
- Hairs/fibers;
- Fingerprints;
- Impressions (tire/footwear);
- Digital evidence
- Electronic communications including social media;
- Writings/recordings;
- Cell phones/communication devices;
- DNA reciprocals (drinking glasses, toilet, sinks, tissues, toothbrushes etc);
- Restraints/Inserted objects; and
- Condoms/Tampons.

### **Clothing/Material as Evidence**

The victim's and assailant's clothing and any bedding or items where the assault occurred can frequently contain important physical evidence since garments/materials are absorbent surfaces, or surfaces which traces of foreign matter may be deposited or cling. Items such as blood, semen, saliva, hairs, or textile fibers may be transferred to the victim during physical contact. While foreign matter can be washed or worn off the body of the victim, the same substances may be found intact on clothing or material for a considerable length of time following the assault.

Damage in the form of rips, tears, or other destructive characteristics to clothing/material may also be significant. Those items may be evidence of the use of force or resistance.

Finally, collected materials can also serve as a standard for comparing trace evidence retrieved from other evidentiary items, thereby connecting the suspect, victim and crime scenes.

### **Condom Trace Evidence**

Today's high-level awareness of the spread of various sexually transmitted diseases coupled with the media attention to the ever-improving use of DNA in identifying perpetrators of unsolved crimes has increased the use of condoms by sexual assault offenders. Just as a burglar often wears gloves to avoid leaving fingerprints at a crime scene, the sexual perpetrator may use a condom to avoid leaving DNA from semen on the body or clothing of the victim.

Although the use of condoms may significantly reduce the chance of retrieving seminal fluid, there are other types of equally important trace evidence that may be recovered. Condoms are made from a variety of synthetic and natural materials. Latex rubber is the most popular. Condom manufacturers add particulates (powders), lubricants, and spermicides to their products. Residues of those substances are referred to as condom trace evidence. Condom trace evidence can be recovered from sexual assault victims during the medical examination process.

The identification of condom trace evidence may assist investigators and prosecutors in proving penetration, even in the absence of seminal fluids. To assist the forensic laboratory in the analysis of condom trace evidence, investigators should make every effort to collect all condom-related evidence including, but not limited to:

- Used condoms;
- Unused condoms;
- Condom wrappers;
- Partial or empty boxes of condoms;
- Tissues from the trash;
- Lubricants; and
- Evidence inside/outside of condom.

## **Packaging**

The manner in which evidence is packaged is critical because it can directly affect the degradation or preservation of the evidence. If the evidence is not properly packaged and protected from contamination, it can be rendered virtually useless even if the best identification and collection practices have been adopted.

The following are some simple concepts to keep in mind when collecting evidence:

- Each item should be packaged separately;
- Hairs, fibers, or other trace evidence, should be placed in a paper envelope and sealed (without licking the seal); and
- Clothing and other evidence specimens must be sealed in paper or cardboard containers as the use of plastic could result in the destruction of evidence.
- All evidence packaging must be properly sealed with evidence tape.
- At a minimum, all evidence should be labeled identifying the content, date and time located, date collected and by whom, agency and case number.

If the clothing/material/tampons/condoms are wet, the items should be air dried before being packaged. When transporting such evidence to a secure, drying location, placing it temporarily in plastic bags is acceptable practice. The container or bag used to transport the wet evidence to the drying location, as well as the drop cloth placed under the wet evidence, should also be submitted for processing.

Careless packaging can result in one garment/item accidentally contaminating another potentially making it impossible for the examiner to accurately interpret the findings. For example, if semen in the female victim's underpants is inadvertently transferred to her shirt after collection, the detection of semen on the shirt may mistakenly appear to contradict the victim's account of what occurred. To prevent cross- contamination, each garment must be placed in a separate paper bag.

## Chain of Custody

It is critical to document the chain of custody of all evidence identified and collected. This is accomplished by completing an evidence log upon the collection of evidence and any time it is moved or it changes possession from the date and time of collection. The evidence log should contain, at a minimum, the date and time it was collected/transferred, the name of the person who both took and lost possession of the evidence, a description of the evidence and a department name and case number. This documentation practice must be adhered to each time the evidence is handled or it may result in loss of evidence at trial.

## Massachusetts Sexual Assaults Evidence Collection Kits (MSAECK) and the Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE)

It is important to consider that the victim's body may have both observable and unobservable evidence. This critical evidence is best collected in a hospital by a Massachusetts Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE) utilizing the Massachusetts Sexual Assault Evidence Collection Kit (MSAECK).

SANEs undergo specialized training, providing them with advanced skills in sexual assault patient care, forensic exam assessment, and evidence collection. Although SANEs are not in every Massachusetts hospital, SANEs are positioned widely throughout the Commonwealth and usually work in high volume hospitals/medical centers.

Police officers should refer sexual assault victims to SANE sites to access specialized services whenever possible. SANEs are available 24 hours a day, seven days a week to designated SANE sites and will respond when a sexual assault patient presents at an emergency department within five days (120 hours) of the assault. All hospitals across the Commonwealth are given SANE Protocols to follow when collecting evidence in the event a SANE is not available.

If the victim seeks care at a SANE site before contacting the police, the SANE will ask the patient if they wish to make a police report. In these instances, the SANE may initiate police contact to facilitate the patient's report of the crime. SANEs specialized and unique training make them a valuable resource to the investigator and can often facilitate the victim's reporting of the assault within the emergency department. A best practice, if timing allows, is for the SANE and the investigating officer to obtain a history of the assault from the patient together. This practice will decrease the number of times a victim will have to recount their experience.

The average SANE exam will take approximately three to four hours and cannot be interrupted once the evidence collection is started. SANEs obtain written consent from victims for every step of the evidence collection process using six detailed MSAECK forms.

As of April 2015, there are 17 MSAECK steps to the evidence collection process. Comprehensive toxicology testing may take place if appropriate based on the case facts and circumstances of the case. Also completed is a physical assessment (including a pelvic exam), evidence collection, forensic photography, medication education and administration, and the coordination of discharge and follow-up care. Time is important in sexual assault evidence collection:

- Investigators should attempt to collect a known DNA standard from any consensual partners from the 5 days (120 hours) prior to collection of the MSAECK.
- Evidence on a patient age 12 years and older can be collected up to 5 days (120 hours) after the assault. Evidence can be collected even if the victim has bathed and or showered since the assault.

In addition to the Sexual Evidence Collection kit, toxicology samples are packaged in the Massachusetts Comprehensive Toxicology Kit and turned over to law enforcement with the MSAECK for transport to the Massachusetts State Police Crime Lab. It is imperative that kit pickup and transport occur as soon as possible to maintain evidence integrity.

If there is suspicion that a drug was used to facilitate the commission of a sexual assault, specific toxicology testing is available to victims, with their consent, within 96 hours of the assault. The collection of urine and/or blood through the use of a Comprehensive Toxicology Kit, as a part of the MSAECK, is available at most hospital emergency departments.

Victims can have toxicology testing completed even if they do not report the assault to the police. In these circumstances, toxicology results will be made available through a phone system which the victim is given access to at discharge. The victim can call the provided number to obtain the results approximately six weeks after collection. After receiving the results, the victim may then decide to initiate a police report.

In addition to the collection of valuable forensic evidence, victims may also be concerned about potential medical risks. Prompt medical attention provided in the emergency department is critical to the victim's health and wellbeing. Medications can be prescribed to prevent pregnancy, HIV, and other sexually transmitted illnesses from occurring.

## **Interviewing Medical Personnel**

Medical personnel and Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners (SANEs) may have important information to share related to the assault and medical assessment of the victim post examination. However, federal and state law may require the victim to provide explicit consent in order for the attending medical personnel/SANE to disclose any information. The role of the medical provider/SANE conducting a forensic examination is to document the patient's account of the assault and any physical findings. This may also include photo-documentation of non-genital injuries.

Medical providers/SANEs collect forensic evidence by swabbing areas of the victim's body, often based on history as reported by the victim. Such evidence is often not visible to the naked eye. It important to recognize that for a variety of reasons, the majority of sexual assaults do not result in physical injury and the lack of observable trauma does not mean that an assault did not occur.

Furthermore, in assaults in which physical trauma is reported, injuries may not be observable to the medical personnel/SANE at the time of their examination. Victims who report their assault to law enforcement should be encouraged to notify law enforcement if injuries become visible in the following days. Follow-up photographs may be obtained by the appropriate LE photographer at that time. Medical providers/SANEs do not conduct forensic testing or analysis of any evidence collected.

If a victim is transported by ambulance, investigators are encouraged to obtain copies of the run sheets and interview ambulance personnel as appropriate.

#### **Evidence Identification**

All collected evidence from the MSAECK and Massachusetts Comprehensive Toxicology Kit is identified with one specific kit number whether the case is reported by the victim to the police or not. This kit number identifies the victim's evidence collection encounter and is how the evidence kit(s) are tracked. If the victim chooses to directly report the incident to the police, his/her name is noted on the kit. In cases when evidence is collected, but not reported to the police, a kit number will be the only identifier. In this circumstance, there should be no victim name on the kit. The victim is provided the kit number upon discharge and is instructed that the kit number identifies the kit and the evidence collected.

### **Disposition of the Massachusetts Sexual Assault Evidence Collection Kit**

Following the collection of medical evidence, the sealed MSAECK(s) are refrigerated and any clothing or other evidence is bagged and stored separately at the medical facility. The hospital will contact the police department of jurisdiction to facilitate the transfer of the kit and other evidence from the medical facility to the crime lab.

It is the responsibility of the investigator to deliver the kit and other evidence to the appropriate crime laboratory as soon as possible to avoid the destruction of

vital evidence. In the case of an examination done when the alleged assault has occurred in Boston, the MSAECK will be transferred to the Boston Police Crime Laboratory. All other MSAECKs are taken to the nearest Massachusetts State Police Crime Laboratory. It is important to note that this differs from the protocol for toxicology kits, all of which are transferred to the Massachusetts State Police Crime Laboratory, regardless of the location of the alleged assault. The investigator must ensure that the kit is refrigerated and that the chain of custody is maintained.

- Both in Massachusetts and by Federal requirement, evidence is collected even if the patient decides not to report the sexual assault to the police.
- In Massachusetts it is the responsibility of the police department of jurisdiction where the assault occurred to pick up and transport the evidence to the crime lab, in a timely fashion, whether or not the case is reported at the time of the exam.
- If there are extenuating circumstances associated with the investigation or legitimate reasons the local police of jurisdiction cannot transport the sexual assault kit and/or evidence, the Massachusetts State Police should be contacted for the transport of evidence.
- Unreported cases may be reported at a later date. MSAECKs are retained for fifteen (15) years, during which time the victims may decide whether they want to report the assault to the police and have the evidence analyzed.
- In the event the alleged sexual assault occurs out of state but the forensic exam is performed in Massachusetts, the closest Massachusetts State Police barracks should be contacted for the transportation of the kit and any associated evidence to the crime lab.

### **Suspect Evidence Collection**

Through arrest, consent, or search warrant, investigators may have an opportunity to collect evidence and/or biological specimens from the suspect's body or clothing. If performed before the degradation of biological material, the examination may link the suspect to the crime. Through accurate documentation and collection of blood, hair, nails, wounds, body fluids or other evidence, examination of the suspect may corroborate the victim's account of the assault.

If the suspect voluntarily consents to a forensic examination, the appropriate consent forms should be signed. If the suspect does not voluntarily consent to such an examination, a search warrant/court order may be necessary and should specify all the evidence to be collected. A copy of the search warrant/court order needs to be present and submitted to the technician prior to the collection of

evidence. A copy of the order/search warrant must be shown to the suspect at the time the search is conducted and the suspect should be given an opportunity to read it. It is recommended you consult with a supervisor and/or the District Attorney's Office of jurisdiction to ensure proper legal requirements have been met.

Genetic material from the victim detected on the suspect's body or clothing may also corroborate allegations that a sexual assault occurred. Additionally, a swabbing of the suspect's penis may retrieve secretions from the mouth, vagina or rectum of the victim. In cases involving digital penetration, swabbing of the suspect's fingers or scrapings/clippings of the suspect's fingernails may retrieve secretions originating from the various body cavities of the victim. In addition, don't overlook the possibility of swabbing less obvious areas of the body which may have been handled (e.g. legs, wrists, neck etc).

Photograph the suspect, naked if necessary. If seizing the suspect's clothing, be sure to first photograph him/her fully clothed then photograph each item of evidence separately once removed. Be respectful and provide the suspect with appropriate clothing or cover once done. The facts and circumstance of the case will impact which evidentiary items are relevant for seizure. Be sure to consider any legal restrictions and/or requirements prior to seizure of evidence to minimize the chance of suppression at trial. Ensure proper packaging and chain of custody procedures are adhered to.

Regardless of what facility is used for evidence collection, the suspect and victim should never encounter one another. The security and safety of the victim and potential medical technician/examiner should also be taken seriously. Law enforcement should be present during the suspect's entire examination and processing for evidence collection.

The officer should expect that only the evidence listed on the search warrant will be collected. In the event that additional evidence is identified during the course of the forensic evaluation, an additional search warrant may be required and then served prior to the collection of that evidence (e.g. not in plain view). In the event this occurs, you should contact the District Attorney's Office of jurisdiction for consultation; however, it may be permissible to detain the suspect while the second search warrant is obtained.

A Sexual Assault Evidence Collection Kit should never be used when collecting evidence from sexual assault suspects. The kits are for the collection of evidence from victims **ONLY** and do not provide for the collection of all the necessary specimens from sexual assault suspects.

It is the responsibility of the investigating law enforcement agency to ensure that the evidence is collected in a proper manner and that it's delivered to the crime laboratory in a timely fashion.

### Chain of custody

To prevent the loss, or misplacement of evidence at the time of kit pick-up, you should expect hospital emergency staff to ask for identification for documentation purposes. Police officers picking up evidence should be prepared to provide hospital staff with their name and identification/badge number. This practice is to protect the integrity of the chain of custody and is to comply with evidence transport guidelines.

### **Combined DNA Index System (CODIS)**

The nation-wide standardization of forensic DNA analysis provides the ideal platform for crime labs to share DNA information derived from evidence and sexual offenders. Using the Federal Bureau of Investigation's Combined DNA Index System (CODIS), DNA profiles obtained from body fluids, stains, or other evidentiary sources of DNA with unknown offenders may be linked to other cases or known offenders. This has allowed crime labs to scientifically document known sex offenders.

A DNA profile derived from evidence may lead investigators to the identity a single assailant, multiple offenders, or link multiple cases. The information obtained from a CODIS report serves as an invaluable investigative tool lead helping direct investigator to potential offenders.

• DNA profiles must meet eligibility requirements before being submitted to CODIS.

## **SECTION TWELVE**

## ADDITIONAL INVESTIGATIVE TOOLS AND RESOURCES

Below are some additional considerations which may assist in corroborating the statements and facts you gather throughout the course of your investigation.

### **Electronic Evidence**

The use of technology, particularly cell phones, in our daily lives has expanded immensely over the last ten years. Cell phones and other devices such as tablets and

laptops have become a primary method of communication between people. In addition to both verbal and written communications, people also use these devices daily to capture and store images, post information about their activities and whereabouts on social media, and keep lists of contacts and acquaintances. These devices hold a great deal of information which, if obtained and recovered properly, may prove to be relevant and powerful evidence in your investigation.

In any investigation, investigators must consider all electronic media and storage devices as potential sources of evidence and insight into the circumstances of the case. In doing so, the investigator should consider the following:

- Is digital evidence potentially involved in the crime?
  - Survey the scene for digital evidence, including phones, cameras, computers, thumb drives and other external storage devices.
  - If there a question as to the location of the suspect or victim at the time of the crime, and they routinely carry their cell phone on their person, cell site location information (CLSI) can be gained with a search warrant.
  - Interview victim/witnesses as to the use of these devices. Text or social media communication between victim and suspect, before and after the crime has occurred, can carry evidentiary value.
- Identify all locations of potential digital evidence:
  - On-scene (e.g. phones, computers, data storage devices)
  - On-line (e.g. Internet Service Providers, "cloud" storage services)
  - Other locations (e.g. in possession of victim or suspect)
- Determine search authority:
  - Consent, plain view, search warrant, exigency, etc.
  - Electronic Communication Privacy Act (ECPA)
- The digital crime scene may include information stored by service provider and may require a Preservation Order followed by a search warrant.
- Always be cognizant of the fact that some devices can be erased or otherwise tampered with from remote locations. Care should be taken to protect devices from any incoming signals (e.g. use of a Faraday bag or switching of the device to "airplane mode").

There can often be technological nuances and search warrant requirements associated with electronic storage devices and evidence recovery. Therefore, it is strongly recommended that prior to handling or seizing such evidence, you consult with a computer forensic unit and/or the District Attorney's Office of jurisdiction.

### **Electronic Monitoring - Probation**

The Massachusetts Probation Service Electronic Monitoring (ELMO) provides a critical level of services designed as an alternative to incarceration. ELMO uses technology as a tool for monitoring probationers, parolees, and litigants. This 24 hour/7 day a week operation provides structure, accountability, and monitoring of the participants – with the goal of changing behavior, ensuring compliance of court orders, and enhancing public safety in the community.

Law Enforcement agencies may request ELMO information, by submitting a written request to Elmo.Inforequests@jud.state.ma.us from a verifiable Law Enforcement agency email address. Probation typically responds within 24 to 48 hours. Please note that ELMO will supply GPS information "For Investigative Purposes Only".

### Immediate Need

In the interest of public safety, if a Law Enforcement agency makes an urgent request (i.e. AMBER Alerts, Major/Catastrophic events, and requests for real time locations of specific monitored offenders for the purpose of serving a warrant or effectuating an arrest) and provides verifiable credentials (such as the main phone number of the requesting agency, the officer's badge number, contact information, and that the Officer is currently assigned to investigate the matter at hand) information for investigative purposes may be provided immediately.

If an agency is requesting a point tracking search (Crime Correlation) for a particular location, this request should include a defined period of time and should disclose for what purpose the request is being made. All requests should be sent to Elmo.Inforequests@jud.state.ma.us. Law enforcement may also contact ELMO directly at 978-365-2970 for assistance.

## Court Orders/ Grand Jury Subpoenas

In certain circumstances such as obtaining financials, phone records, medical records, or other documentation, court orders and/or grand jury subpoenas may be necessary. These requests must be coordinated with the District Attorney's Office of jurisdiction.

## **Photo Arrays**

If you have an identification case, be sure to conduct identifications either through photo arrays, line-ups, or show-ups. All three methods have strict legal requirements which should be adhered to in order to ensure admissibility in court. If you are unsure of the proper identification protocols, consult with a supervisor or with the District Attorney's Office of jurisdiction for specific department guidelines for photo array protocol.

### **Polygraph Examinations**

The use of polygraph examinations can be an effective and reliable tool to include or exclude an individual as a suspect in criminal investigations. The use of polygraph examinations for victims is strongly discouraged except in cases where there is a reasonable basis to believe the victim is making a false claim or report. In addition, the use of or the suggested use of a polygraph examination should not be used as a condition of proceeding with an investigation, charge, or prosecution of an offense.

In Massachusetts, the results of polygraph exams are inadmissible in criminal trials and may not be used for any purpose or in any capacity for criminal prosecution. In addition, the submission to, or failure to submit to, a polygraph examination is inadmissible in court.

### Sex Offender Registry Board (SORB)

The mission of the Sex Offender Registry Board is to promote public safety through educating and informing the public in order to prevent further victimization. This is accomplished through registering and classifying convicted sex offenders by risk of re-offense and degree of danger, and making identifying information of those offenders who live work and/or attend institutions of higher learning in the communities of the Commonwealth available to the public.

The SORB is the state agency responsible for compiling and maintaining a database of convicted sex offenders and classifying each offender. The SORB is an important partner with local law enforcement to ensure sex offender registration and compliance enforcement. The SORB is also an excellent resource for law enforcement offering investigative support. They have access to records and information regarding offender histories which may not be available through traditional data base searches (e.g. Triple III, BOP etc.).

### **Outside Documentation**

The use of outside agency documents and reports can be powerful circumstantial evidence to corroborate your investigation. Consider checking the following sources for information regarding your suspect or possible suspects:

- Board of Probation record (BOP);
- Interstate Identification Index (III) (federal Criminal History Record Information);
- Incident reports from other arrests and/or law enforcement involvements;
- Field interrogations reports (FIO reports);
- Employment records;
- Military records;
- Educational documents;

- Passports and travel documents;
- Probation/Parole records;
- Financial records;
- 911/Turret tapes;
- Outside video;
- Professional boards (e.g. medicine, education);
- Department of Transitional Assistance;
- Department of Children and Families;
- Disabled Persons Protection Commission;
- Rental information; and
- GPS, and electronic monitoring transponders.

The above is not an exhaustive list. The limits and constraints of investigative tools and resources are only as limited as your imagination, so utilize all available resources. Assemble as comprehensive and professional investigative package as possible. If you are unsure of the proper protocols to obtain any of the above information, you should consult with a supervisor or with the District Attorney's Office of jurisdiction.

## **SECTION THIRTEEN**

## **OTHER INVESTIGATIVE CONSIDERATIONS**

#### **High Profile Investigations**

Sexual assault investigations cross all social, economic, and professional boundaries. Because of these intersections, you may be placed in delicate or difficult situations. Examples include investigating police officers, public officials, or individuals who hold positions of power. Your job is to investigate and report the facts as you find them. Your ability to be impartial and ensure the victim is treated fairly and with dignity is paramount. If an investigation creates a real or perceived conflict, the best practice may be to have the case handled by an independent and detached party. Consult departmental policy, your supervisor, and/or the District Attorney's Office of jurisdiction when such situations arise.

#### **Media Relations and Interaction**

When addressing the media regarding any criminal investigation or pending criminal case, it is recommended that you consult your department guidelines and ensure that the information contained in the log is appropriate for public dissemination. Coordinate any press releases with your District Attorney's Office of jurisdiction where warranted or as prescribed by departmental policy. Aside from the legal restrictions that prohibit the release of information regarding victims of sexual assault, there are often a myriad of other issues and concerns which may be present for the victim. These include the ongoing threat of and/or risk of continued domestic and sexual violence or retaliation. Safety risks may require additional layers of protection and precaution by law enforcement to protect the identity and location of the victim.

There are several Massachusetts General Laws which impact public dissemination and media disclosure. The primary statute which affects law enforcement is MGL c 265, § 24C. This statute states that the portion of records of any court or any police department in the Commonwealth or any or their political subdivisions which contain the name of a victim in an arrest, investigation, or complaint for rape or assault with intent to rape, shall be withheld from public inspection, except with consent of a justice of such court where the complaint or indictment would be prosecuted. Said portion of the court record or police record shall not be deemed to be a public record.

In addition to the above, it is also important to be cognizant of the added legal restrictions surrounding the release of information regarding juveniles.

### **Mandated Reporting**

Mandated reporters are individuals who, when acting in their professional capacity, learn about abuse and/or neglect or suspect abuse/neglect and are by law, required to report their suspicions to the appropriate protection agency. Oral reports should be immediately filed and a written report should follow within 48 hours. Police officers are mandated reporters.

**Vulnerable Populations:** There are four agencies charged with the protection of certain vulnerable groups of individuals under Massachusetts law. These agencies are:

- **Department of Children and Families (DCF)** which acts to protect children under the age of 18;
- **Disabled Persons Protection Commission (DPPC)** which acts to protect persons with disabilities between the ages of 18 to 59 years old who as a result of the disability is wholly or partially dependent on others to meet his/her daily living needs;
- **Executive Office of Elder Affairs (EOEA)** which acts to protect elders age 60 and older; and
- **Department of Public Health (DPH)** which acts to protect individuals of all ages residing in hospitals and long term care facilities.

Mandated reporters play an important role in preventing continued abuse of existing victims and in preventing abuse of potential victims. The law provides mandated reporters with immunity from civil or criminal liability as long as the report was made in good faith. See appendix for a detailed list of mandatory reporting requirements.

# **SECTION FOURTEEN**

# **CROSSOVER OFFENSES**

## **Human Trafficking**

In 2012 the Commonwealth passed Anti Human trafficking legislation in efforts to better address all forms of Human Trafficking. In particular, Sex Trafficking is prevalent in Massachusetts and can often intersect with other offenses including sexual assault, domestic violence. The statute defines adults as over 18 and children as under 18. Anyone who is a mandated reporter and who suspects a child is the victim of Child Sex Trafficking is required to file a (51A) report with DCF.

Sex traffickers often use violence, threats, lies, debt bondage, and other forms of coercion to compel adults and children to engage in commercial sex acts. Many victims become romantically involved with someone who then coerces of manipulates them into sexual conduct for a fee. Others are lured in with false promises of a job, such as modeling or dancing and, once indoctrinated into performing sexual conduct for a fee, find it very difficult to get out due to a variety of reasons.

Victims of trafficking may be involved in a trafficking situation for a few days or weeks, or may remain in the same trafficking situation for years. Victims of sex trafficking can be U.S. citizens, foreign nationals, women, men, children, and LGBTQ individuals. Vulnerable populations are frequently targeted by traffickers, including runaway and homeless youth, as well as victims of domestic violence, sexual assault, war, or social discrimination.

Sex trafficking occurs in a range of venues including fake massage businesses, online ads, escort services, residential brothels, on the streets or at truck stops, or at hotels and motels.

Victims of trafficking often do not self-identify as victims and may be at high risk for retaliatory violence from their trafficker. The degree of victimization often suffered by victims of trafficking can be extensive and are best addressed through a multidisciplinary approach. Officers who become involved with a victim/ investigation involving sex trafficking are encouraged to contact their local District Attorney's Office, the AG's Office, or the State Police High Risk Victim Unit for assistance.

### **Domestic Violence**

There will be times when sexual assault investigations may involve an intimate partner relationship. This can add another layer of challenges for the victim. Some emotions may include shame, embarrassment and fear, all of which can play a major role in completing your investigation.

It is crucial for law enforcement officers to be familiar with the dynamics of domestic abuse. Specifically, how an abuser acts toward their victim and how the victim reacts to their abuser. A lack of understanding of the complexities of these dynamics frequently results in blaming the victim and manipulation of the criminal justice system by the abuser.

Law enforcement officers arriving at an incident are likely to find a victim who is taking responsibility for an abuser's actions. A victim, in fear of their abuser, may act in ways that appear to conceal the abuse. The victim may waive their right to no contact, bail the abuser out of jail or recant in court, accusing the officer of lying. Victims may do these things in an attempt to keep themselves and their children safe.

Another critical component to protecting victims and investigating domestic abuse is to understand that when an abuser believes they are losing control over the victim, the risk of serious injury, sexual assault, stalking and homicide increases.

In situations such as these, it is recommended you refer to the 2017 Domestic Violence Guidelines.

## Strangulation and Sexual Assault:

There is a strong correlation between strangulation, sexual assault, and intimate partner violence. Strangulation is one of many tools an offender can use against their victim. When strangulation is used to control or subdue a victim it increases the possibility of lethality. Victims who report being strangled should be strongly encouraged to seek a medical exam. Although they may not exhibit immediate visible physical signs, there may be internal trauma which requires both treatment and documentation.

Many times offenders get aroused from the strangulation of their victim, therefore, essentially torturing the victim bringing them in and out of consciousness.

Strangulation is clearly one of the significant dangerousness factors that is often misunderstood or misidentified.

Strangulation and Choking are not the same:

Despite the high fatality risk of strangulation, it is often mistaken for something less serious. The word 'choking' minimizes the severity of strangulation for victims, abusers, law enforcement, and court personnel.

<u>Choking</u> is when a food object lodges in a person's throat while they are eating and temporarily stops the person's breathing.

<u>Strangulation</u> is when a person constricts the neck or throat of another person in order to block their air flow. Victims may have no visible injuries whatsoever, yet because of underlying physiological dangers, it is very important that the victim receives medical attention. Victims may have serious internal injuries which could lead to death hours, days, or even weeks later.

In order to properly assess not only the legal standards necessary for charging but also to understand the lethality of the assault, it is essential to fully document what occurred.

The general clinical sequence of a victim who is being strangled is:

- Severe pain
- Followed by unconsciousness
- Followed by brain death.

The victim will lose consciousness by any one or all of the following:

- blocking of the carotid arteries (depriving the brain of oxygen);
- blocking of the jugular veins (preventing deoxygenated blood from exiting the brain);
- And closing off the airway, causing the victim to be unable to breath.

### Physical Symptoms of Victims:

- Spots around eyes or face from a ruptured capillary
- Bruising
- Impression marks, rope or cord burns
- Swelling of the neck
- Loss of bodily functions
- Ringing ears or light-headedness, raspy voice
- Difficulty talking, breathing, or swallowing
- Sore throat, bleeding from the mouth
- Fainting
- Petechiae behind ears; bleeding from ear canals

Physical Evidence on Perpetrator:

- Scratches or cuts
- Bite marks on the arms, hands, or chest
- Finger impressions on hands or arms

Lethal Progression:

- 10 Seconds: pass out
- 20 seconds: should bounce back on own
- 30 seconds: need to revive if they don't bounce back
- 50-100 seconds: point of no return
- 4 minutes (or less): brain death

## **SECTION FIFTEEN**

# **COURTROOM PREPARATION AND TESTIMONY**

As a lead investigator, it is incumbent upon you to facilitate and ensure that the prosecuting District Attorney's Office has a complete investigative packet of all reports and relevant documentation of your investigation. Those documents are the tools the prosecutor needs to do their job. Be cognizant that the conclusion of the investigation is the beginning of the prosecution and the District Attorney's Office and courts will continue to need your assistance and input.

Parts of your responsibilities include court preparation and testimony. The following are several important considerations in court preparation and testimony:

- Be prepared by:
  - Reviewing your reports prior to testifying;
  - Recounting and reciting the facts of your case (while minimizing the need for your memory to be refreshed) as this will demonstrate competency and professionalism; and Being prepared will help reduce any natural anxiety and tension associated with testifying (pull out as separate bullet point)
- Court room testimony/demeanor:
  - Knowing your case will bring natural confidence to your court room presence and testimony;
  - Do not be flip or coy;
  - Refrain from attempting to outsmart or out-think the questioning attorney(s);
  - Answer the questions directly, honestly, and to the best of your abilities;
  - $\circ~$  If you do not know or cannot remember the answer to a

question, communicate that in a direct, non-defensive manner; and

• When testifying, relax and be yourself.

# **SECTION SIXTEEN**

# **VICTIM SUPPORT SERVICES**

### Massachusetts Rape Crisis Counselor

Rape crisis centers offer assistance to victims of sexual assault, their significant others, professionals, and community members. Although rape crisis centers in Massachusetts may vary in the services available, all rape crisis centers offer crisis intervention services. Services may include a 24-hour hotline, legal advocacy, clinical services, and community outreach and education. All services are free and confidential.

Hospital personnel may directly contact community-based rape crisis counselors in addition to contacting a Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE). A rape crisis counselor may also be specifically requested by the victim. Although law enforcement can also directly contact a rape crisis counselor to respond to an emergency department, this is not a recommended procedure because of victim privacy concerns. Instead, it is recommended that law enforcement ensure that hospital staff and the victim are aware of the contact information for local rape crisis services.

In the immediate aftermath of an assault, victims must make decisions impacting their medical care, safety, and legal options. An advocate can provide information to assist the victim (and her/his family) in making the best decisions for themselves and their families.

Counselors, sometimes referred to as "counselor" or "advocate," provide compassionate and knowledgeable support to victims and their families in hospital emergency departments. Counselors can accompany the victim throughout the entire forensic exam if the victim chooses. Counselors can also be helpful with safety planning, arranging transportation, and service referrals.

Rape crisis counselors are part of the system of support that helps victims get through the medical/evidence collection process and understand future options. They are not there to hinder law enforcement's efforts and ability to obtain information and/or evidence.

Under MGL c 233, § 20J, information transmitted in confidence by and between a victim of sexual assault and a certified rape counselor (no third parties present) is considered a confidential communication and is legally protected. Even though a victim may have shared relevant information with the rape crisis counselor about the assault, unless the victim gives the counselor express permission to share that communication with law enforcement, the advocate is under a legal obligation to hold that information confidentially and not disclose any privileged information.

### The Victim Witness Advocate (Office of the District Attorney)

Pursuant to MGL c258B all District Attorney's Offices must have a victim witness assistance program. Victim witness advocates (VWAs) provide immediate crisis assessment and intervention services with victims, witnesses, and their families. Advocates make initial contact with victims on behalf of the District Attorney's Office and help them to assess their most immediate needs—for safety, counseling, medical care, and emergency financial assistance. Additionally, VWAs facilitate referrals to services in the community.

The VWA is responsible for ensuring victims are afforded their rights under MGL c258B including explanations about: the court process, the victim's role in it, what is expected of them, court hearings and any changes in scheduling. VWAs keep victims and witnesses apprised of the status of the case involving them, provide information about how to be notified of an offenders release from custody, and how to access local support and services. VWAs support victims in their right to give input into sentencing including: plea and sentence recommendations from the prosecutor and victim impact statements to the court.

The VWAs work together with prosecutors to prepare victims for testifying, answering questions, accompany the victim in court, and assist victims with applying for Victim of Violent Crime Compensation assistance.

### **Victims of Violent Crime Compensation**

Since law enforcement is often a victim's first interaction with the criminal justice system, police should be familiar with Victims of Violent Crime Compensation, a state program created by MGL c258C and administered through the Attorney General's Office Victim Compensation and Assistance Division. Police officers should adopt a routine practice of advising victims of violent crimes about this potential and critical financial assistance and of other important available resources.

### Victims who may be eligible for Victim Compensation:

- Victims of a violent crime that occurred in Massachusetts;
- Dependents and family members of homicide victims; and
- Any person responsible for the funeral expenses of a homicide victim.

### Direct Billing of Forensic Sexual Assault Exam Expenses:

### <u>Requirements:</u>

Under the federal Violence Against Women Act (VAWA), states are now required to develop a process to cover the full out-of-pocket costs for sexual assault forensic medical exams and ensure that a victim is not billed for any services provided within the emergency department.

Specifically, the state must coordinate with healthcare providers to ensure that victims are aware that medical forensic examinations are available free of cost, and that a patient will not be required to participate in any way in the criminal justice system or cooperate with law enforcement as a condition of receiving these services. All expenses that occur from the moment the survivor comes to an emergency department (ED) through their discharge from the ED or a transfer to an inpatient or other level of care can be covered by direct billing of these expenses from the hospital/clinic to the Victim Compensation Program. This includes:

- Physician fees that are part of or assigned to the facility and included in the overall facility fee
- Facility fees
- Room and Board, Ancillary services (labs, tox screens, etc.), Imaging services, and Medications (e.g., starter pack of prophylactic medications including Truvada, Flagyl, HIV meds, etc.) provided during treatment and prior to discharge.

## Criteria for Payments:

- The assault occurred in Massachusetts
- A Forensic Sexual Exam Kit was administered
- Invoice submitted directly to VCAD within 90 days from the date of service or receipt of an insurer's Explanation of Benefits (EOB)
- Survivor may elect to use their insurance benefits, but are not required to do so
- Compensation Requirements:
- Hospital directly submits an itemized bill
- Must include "Attachment B" that outlines: incident location, name of treating facility, date of treatment, patient information, and forensic kit number.

<u>Massachusetts Forensic Sexual Assault Post Exam Expense Application:</u> <u>Application Requirements:</u>

- Forensic Sexual Assault Kit must be administered
- Crime must have occurred in Massachusetts and does not require a police report
- Claim must be submitted within three years from the date of the crime
- Requires a completed Victim Compensation Forensic Sexual Assault Post Exam application (provided to the survivor at the time of the administration of the kit), a copy of the Treatment and Discharge Form with the kit number, and any copies of bills or receipts related to the exam
- Covers any aftercare (medical treatment or medications), counseling, lost wages, replacement bedding/clothing costs (if seized as a result of a criminal investigation), security measures, and professional crime scene cleanup costs deemed medically necessary as a result of the sexual assault.

### Massachusetts Application for Crime Victim Compensation

Application Requirements:

- The violent crime must have occurred in Massachusetts and have been reported to police within five days unless there is good cause for delay. Sexual assault is exempt from this requirement. (Note: A Sexual Assault survivor, who has not had a forensic sexual assault kit administered, must still file a police report for the purposes of their Victim Compensation application)
- Completed application must be submitted within three years from the date of the crime
- A completed application entails copies of bills, receipts, pay stubs and any other documentation of applicable expenses incurred as a result of the crime, but these additional supporting documents are not required when a survivor initially submits their application to the division.

Financial expenses that may be compensated:

- Medical, dental, counseling, and funeral/burial expenses
- Victim's lost wages
- Loss of financial support for dependents of homicide victims and homemaker expenses

Applications are available at: http://www.mass.gov/ago/public-safety/resources-forvictims/victims-of-violent-crime/victim-compensation.html Additional questions or training requests can be directed to the Division at VCCorrespondence@state.ma.us or by phone to 617-963-2160. MA Office for Victim Assistance (MOVA) / Victim Witness Assistance Board The Massachusetts Office for Victim Assistance (MOVA) is an independent state agency established to uphold and advance the rights of crime victims. While MOVA primarily administers victim service program funding, offer training and education opportunities, and advocate for policy change they do offer some direct referral assistance to crime victims. Victim service staff are available during normal business hours and can connect victims to services across Massachusetts. Victims can call MOVA at 844-878-6682. MOVA also administers a website specifically for victims of violence seeking assistance. www.AskMOVA.org allows victims to input their zip code, crime type impacting them and their service need to gain information about the free victim service providers in their area.

For more information about MOVA including: training opportunities, funded programs and policy/legislative initiatives to advance victim rights go to www.mass.gov/mova

### Victim Notification Registry for Law Enforcement Agencies

The Victim Notification Registry (VNR) is an internet application maintained by the Department of Criminal Justice Information Services (DCJIS) and provides the ability to register victims for notification of an offender's release from incarceration or for access to an offender's Board of Probation (BOP) record.

Access to the VNR can be granted to personnel at any qualified law enforcement agency.

To obtain VNR access, please call the DCJIS Victim Services Unit at 617.660.4690.

# SECTION SEVENTEEN

# SEXUAL ASSAULTS AT COLLEGES AND UNIVERSITIES

### **Overview**

Sexual assault on college campuses is a widespread, growing problem. According to the 2014 White House Task Force report on the issue of campus sexual assault in the United States, one in five women who attend a college or university will become a victim of sexual assault. Issues pertaining to the institution's legal requirements, physical environment, and campus culture can present unique challenges for the criminal investigation.

Procedurally, investigators need to be aware of legal requirements that colleges and universities are bound by when they become aware of complaints of sexual assault.

The Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security Policies and Campus Crime Statistics Act (Clery Act), the Violence Against Women Reauthorization Act of 2013 (VAWA), and Title IX of the Educational Amendments of 1972 (Title IX), all contain requirements for certain actions, such as notice to the campus community and sometimes even a concurrent, judicial investigation, that need to be undertaken by the institution in response to these complaints. Becoming familiar with and understanding these requirements can help prevent conflict between the criminal investigators and the school administration.

Environmentally, a college or university can be very different from the city or town where it is located. On-campus residence halls and buildings are typically high-density areas which can increase the likelihood of locating witnesses. Many campuses also utilize technology such as surveillance cameras and access-control devices which can contain data useful to the investigation. In addition, the campus environment is likely to provide robust support resources for the victim/survivor, therefore, a working knowledge of these resources can help the investigator to assist the victim/survivor through the investigation process.

Culturally, the campus environment has a typically youthful population, many of whom are just learning to live day-to-day without direct parental supervision. This adjustment often leads to high-risk behaviors such as increased substance abuse, a high susceptibility to peer pressure, and an over willingness to trust other community members. Substance-facilitated sexual assaults occur at an alarming rate at colleges and universities with approximately half of all rapes experienced by college students involve alcohol use knowingly or unknowingly consumed by perpetrator or victim.

### Jurisdiction/Collaboration

The structural makeup of Law enforcement at colleges and universities can take many forms. Some campuses maintain their own police departments with full-time, fully-sworn officers who are trained and equipped to handle incidents of sexual assault. Others will maintain a security department that will provide a presence to protect the campus, but will rely on the municipal police or the Massachusetts State Police to conduct criminal investigations. It is essential for investigators to know exactly where the jurisdictional boundaries for each incident lie and who will be the lead in the investigation.

It is recommended that the local police departments establish a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the colleges/universities in their area. The purpose of these MOUs is to clearly establish expectations and responsibilities between the campus administration, campus law enforcement, and city/town/state law enforcement. An MOU regarding sexual assault investigations should include, but not be limited to the following:

- A clear definition of jurisdictional boundaries
- An established system of information sharing between the involved entities regarding reports of sexual assault
- A response plan for incidents of sexual assault, including identifying the primary responders as well as expectations for assistance
- A plan for providing/obtaining support resources for the victim

Having a clearly-established plan beforehand reduces the likelihood of conflict between the criminal investigators and the institution and will facilitate a smoother investigation.

## Institutional Responsibilities

Federal Laws such as The Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security Policies and Campus Crime Statistics Act (Clery Act), the Violence Against Women Reauthorization Act of 2013 (VAWA), and Title IX of the Educational Amendments of 1972 (Title IX), are what establish best practices and responsibilities for colleges and universities when dealing with reports of sexual assault. Failure of the institution to comply with these laws can result in hefty fines and loss of federal funding.

Among the many requirements set forth by these laws are:

- Timely notification to the community if the reported crime is believed to cause an ongoing risk.
- In cases where the suspect is a student or employee of the institution, the institution is obligated to take immediate mitigating action to protect the victim and any other member of the community. This can include re-location, suspension, or expulsion.
- A resolution process must be established for investigation and adjudication of offenders by the rules of the institution. This will include a hearing process during which both suspect and victim may be interviewed regardless of the status on any ongoing criminal investigation.
- Yearly requests for local police departments to provide crime data on a variety of specified crimes, including sexual assault.

Some of these requirements pose unique circumstances for investigators. For example, there can be several legitimate reasons to control the disclosure of information related to ongoing investigations, yet federal law requires the institution to inform their community (see above). It can also be challenging for police to get a statement from suspects who feel that they are already being "punished" by being relocated from their residence hall or suspended from their institution. These challenges can often be overcome by establishing a cooperative relationship with the institution (and the establishment of MOUs as discussed in the preceding section). An investigator must be aware that reports of sexual assault will trigger mandatory responses from colleges and universities and it is best for the victim and the investigation to avoid conflict whenever possible. Working with the institution, it can be possible to satisfy the Federal requirements without negatively impacting the investigation.

### Potential Advantages of the College/University Environment

Despite the aforementioned challenges that can come with conducting a sexual assault investigation on a college campus, there can also be a variety of advantages to conducting an investigation within that environment. Knowledge of these can assist both the investigator and the victim during the investigative process.

If your victim is a student at a college/university, the institution will be able to offer them assistance in coping with the assault. Some of the resources available to students can include:

- No-contact orders
- Counseling services
- Re-location from their current residence hall
- Academic accommodations, such as a change of classes or re-scheduling of tests
- Ability to temporarily withdraw from the institution, without penalty, while under the stress of the investigation/prosecution

Each institution should have a staffer assigned as their "Title IX Coordinator", as well as an office that oversees the campus resolution. These are the offices that will be assisting victims of sexual assault; they should be included in any MOUs and would be the people who your victim would most likely be in contact with to obtain services through the institution.

In addition to having the ability to directly provide resources to the victim, the college campus can typically offer advantages to an investigator in terms of information and technology. Among these may be:

- Biographical/contact information for involved parties, including local addresses, cell phone, and email contact\*
- Vehicle information if one of the involved parties has a vehicle with an oncampus parking pass
- Video surveillance systems
- Access control systems that can indicate who/when gained access to a building or area

\*Some information held by the institution is protected under the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA). Methods for access to the records/technology listed above should be clearly established in your department's MOU with the institution.

### Campus "Culture": Considerations for the Investigator

The average campus environment consists of a resident student population that is predominately between the ages of eighteen and twenty-two. Many of these students are living away from their parents or guardians for the first time. These factors, especially when combined with stereotypes of campuses as a "party" atmosphere, can lead to high-risk behaviors concerning substance abuse and sexual activity.

Investigators who are involved with sexual assault cases on college campuses should be aware that the following factors may come in play:

- Roughly half of all rapes experienced by college students involve alcohol use knowingly or unknowingly consumed by perpetrator or victim. If the perpetrator or victim report having attended a social event or party prior to the criminal act, the investigator should consider questioning others who were at that event in regards to what beverages/substances were provided to patrons, and if anyone reported unusual circumstances as a result of consumption.
- The intentional use of drugs or alcohol to impair the victim's ability to consent is a practice that is utilized during both stranger and acquaintance assaults. If the investigation reveals, in a timely manner, that the victim may have ingested a substance that contributed to the assault, the investigator should consider requesting a drug screening.
- Drinking games, commonly played at social events on college campuses, can be a way for victims to consume more alcohol than they can handle without realizing it. Games such as "beer pong", "quarters", "flip cup", and "King's cup", among many others, can contribute to rapid intoxication and impair a victim's capacity to give consent. These games can also be used by more experienced drinkers to incapacitate those who have a lower tolerance for alcohol.
- Colleges and universities typically foster a strong "community" atmosphere which can lead to a false sense of security. Leaving doors and windows unlocked, allowing strangers access to a room, etc. can be seen as "irresponsible" behavior but are often common practices when students feel that they can trust others simply because they are fellow students.

Colleges and universities can prove to be challenging places to conduct a sexual assault investigation, especially when not prepared for the nuances of the environment. Gaining knowledge of the institution's legal and procedural requirements, as well as an understanding of the institution's resources and aspects

of student life, can help navigate this environment and improve the chances for a successful investigation. This knowledge is best gained beforehand; opening channels of communication with the institution and establishing a well-written Memorandum of Understanding should be a priority for police agencies who will conduct investigations within the campus environment.

#### NOTES

<sup>1</sup> In a nationally representative survey of adults: • Nearly 1 in 5 (18.3%) women and 1 in 71 men (1.4%) reported experiencing rape at some time in their lives. • Approximately 1 in 20 women and men (5.6% and 5.3%, respectively) experienced sexual violence other than rape, such as being made to penetrate someone else, sexual coercion, unwanted sexual contact, or non-contact unwanted sexual experiences, in the 12 months prior to the survey. • 4.8% of men reported they were made to penetrate someone else at some time in their lives. • 13% of women and 6% of men reported they experienced sexual coercion at some time in their lives. (Tjaden P, Thoennes N. Extent, nature, and consequences of rape victimization: Findings from the National Violence Against Women Survey. Washington: US Department of Justice; Publication No. NCJ210346; 2006.)

46.4% lesbians, 74.9% bisexual women and 43.3% heterosexual women reported sexual violence other than rape during their lifetimes, while 40.2% gay men, 47.4% bisexual men and 20.8% heterosexual men reported sexual violence other than rape during their lifetimes. (Rennison, C. A. (2002). Rape and sexual assault: Reporting to police and medical attention, 1992-2000 [NCJ 194530]. Retrieved from the U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Bureau of Justice Statistics: http://bjs.ojp.usdoj.gov/content/pub/pdf/rsarp00.p)

Nearly half (47%) of 27,715 respondents in the 2015 U.S. Transgender Survey (USTS), a study conducted by the National Center for Transgender Equality (NCTE), reported they have been sexually assaulted at some point in their lifetime.

<sup>11</sup> Black MC, Basile KC, Breiding MJ, Smith SG, Walters ML, Merrick MT, Chen J, Stevens MR. The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS): 2010 Summary Report. Atlanta, GA: National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2011.

<sup>iii</sup> In eight out of 10 cases of rape, the victim knew the person who sexually assaulted them. (Black MC, Basile KC, Breiding MJ, Smith SG, Walters ML, Merrick MT, Chen J, Stevens MR. The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS): 2010 Summary Report. Atlanta, GA: National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2011.)

In a nationally representative survey: • Among female rape victims, perpetrators were reported to be intimate partners (51.1%), family members (12.5%), acquaintances (40.8%) and strangers (13.8%). • Among male rape victims, perpetrators were reported to be acquaintances (52.4%) and strangers (15.1%). • Among male victims who were made to penetrate someone else, perpetrators were reported to be intimate partners (44.8%), acquaintances (44.7%) and strangers (8.2%). (Tjaden P, Thoennes N. Extent, nature, and consequences of rape victimization: Findings from the National Violence Against Women Survey. Washington: US Department of Justice; Publication No. NCJ210346; 2006.)

<sup>iv</sup> Why many rape victims don't fight or yell. Hopper, James W. Originally published by The Washington Post in its "Grade Point" higher education blog, June 23, 2015.

 Paraphrased from Why Many Rape and Trauma Survivors Have Fragmented and Incomplete Memories. James Hopper, Ph.D., David Lisak, Ph.D., originally published by Time.com on December 9, 2014.

<sup>vi</sup> Due to media representations of sexual violence, victims may believe that they do not "look" like a victim or that the violation was not a sexual assault because they did not sustain injuries, a weapon was not used, and/or the offender was known to them. Yet in the majority of sexual assaults, a weapon is not used and physical injuries are not sustained. Among sexual violence victims raped since their 18th birthday, 31.5% of women and 16.1% of men reported a physical injury as a result of a rape. 36.2% of injured female victims received medical treatment.

<sup>vii</sup> A study of eight U.S. communities, which included 2,059 cases of sexual assault, found a 7.1% rate of false reports. (Lonsway, K. A., Archambault, J., & Lisak, D. (2009). False reports: Moving beyond the

issue to successfully investigate and prosecute non-stranger sexual assault. The Voice, 3(1), 1-11. Retrieved from the National District Attorneys Association: http://www.ndaa.org/pdf/the\_voice\_vol\_3\_no\_1\_2009.pdf.

A study of 136 sexual assault cases in Boston found a 5.9% rate of false reports. (Lisak, D., Gardinier, L., Nicksa, S. C., & Cote, A. M. (2010). False allegations of sexual assault: An analysis of ten years of reported cases. Violence Against Women, 16, 1318-1334. doi:10.1177/1077801210387747.)

Researchers studied 812 reports of sexual assault from 2000-03 and found a 2.1% rate of false reports. (Heenan, M., & Murray, S. (2006). Study of reported rapes in Victoria 2000-2003: Summary research report. Retrieved from the State of Victoria (Australia), Department of Human Services: http://www.dhs.vic.gov.au/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0004/644152/StudyofReportedRapes.pdf.)

<sup>viii</sup> Uniform Crime Reporting Handbook, 2004 p.77.

<sup>ix</sup> Lonsway, K. A., Archambault, J., & Lisak, D. (2009). False reports: Moving beyond the issue to successfully investigate and prosecute non-stranger sexual assault. The Voice, 3(1), 1-11. Retrieved from the National District Attorneys Association: http://www.ndaa.org/pdf/the\_voice\_vol\_3\_no\_1\_2009.pdf